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Chairman’s Statement

Nick Jordan
Chairman

6 November 2020

    As an essential service, we have remained open 
for business throughout the COVID-19 crisis.“

”

As you may imagine, my report this year is very different from the one I was envisaging I would be writing when 

reviewing our activities earlier this year in the Spring. 2020 has proven to be a year that has presented all of us 

with challenges that many will never have faced before as the pandemic arrived in our communities with far 

reaching consequences, some of which have yet to play out over the months if not years ahead.

First and foremost I hope you will join with me in paying tribute to our Chief Executive and the entire team at 

your Society for their dedication and exemplary effort in ensuring that as an essential service we have remained 

open for business throughout the COVID-19 crisis, with our branch based colleagues keeping the doors open, and 

all other colleagues working from home, whilst dealing with their own individual often personally challenging 

circumstances.

From an operational perspective, despite all of the potential for disruption, I am very pleased to report that the performance of The Hanley 

has been robust and we have broadly met or exceeded the core objectives set by the Board for this year. Mark gives further detail in his report 

which follows, but I would particularly highlight the exceptional performance in advancing new mortgages totalling £93 million, only just 

short of the all time record registered last year which, given that the housing market was essentially closed during the pandemic lockdown, is 

truly remarkable. This should also be placed alongside the very busy period in March and the following months in responding to and working 

with our mortgage customers who asked us to help with payment holiday or other arrangements to assist with the immediate impact of the 

pandemic on domestic finances. The Board was pleased that we were able to support our borrowing customers where we could, and are 

delighted that the majority of those who were offered such assistance have already been able to return to normal payment patterns.  

From a financial performance perspective, the Bank of England changes to interest rates in response to the crisis did have some impact on 

our overall profitability, but your Society remains well funded with strong levels of liquidity and capital in excess of both our regulatory and 

internally set thresholds. 

Since our AGM last December, Veronica Oak, who was a longstanding Non-Executive Director of the Society and chaired the Board Risk 

Committee, moved to Scotland, and with mutual regret decided that it was no longer possible to continue as a member of the Board and so 

left with the Board’s great appreciation and thanks for her contribution to the success of the Hanley Economic. Taking over as chair of the Risk 

Committee, our Nominations Committee has co-opted Ian Henley as a Non-Executive Director. Ian has over 35 years of experience in banking 

and financial services, having retired recently as a Senior Executive of HSBC. The Board also decided to co-opt an additional Non-Executive 

Director to strengthen and broaden the skills and experience of the Board and were delighted to co-opt Liz Whitfield as a Non-Executive 

Director in May this year. Liz is a Chartered Accountant with particular experience with SME's, has her own coaching and consultancy business 

and chairs cross-industry Boards. The Board is very pleased to have secured the services of both Ian and Liz and they will be standing for 

election to the Board at the AGM which we hope you will support. 

As we look forward into the next financial year, much might be viewed as uncertain, both at an individual as well as national and international 

level. However in those circumstances your Board is clear that we should therefore continue to focus on our core objectives as a mutual 

building society with a long and proud history of serving our Members in the provision of appropriate, well designed mortgage and savings 

products whilst safeguarding the financial health of the Society for the benefit of all its Members now and into the future. As we mentioned 

at the AGM last year, in support of these core objectives, we are undertaking a significant investment programme to replace and substantially 

modernise our core operating system. This will enable us to offer our products and services across a wider and more contemporary range 

of channels, whilst not losing any of our existing ways of doing business with you, which we believe will ensure we are properly positioned 

to operate sustainably into the future. This will mean that you should expect our financial results to be lower next year as we make these 

critical investments, but once completed, this will give us greater capacity and capability to offer our services to you and our future Members.

Thanks finally once again to you, our Members, for your continued support of the Society and all of the loyal and diligent colleagues who 

work for the Hanley Economic. Whilst, just as this time last year, when we had no idea what the year ahead would bring, your Board remains 

focused on ensuring that your Society remains true to its principles and in sound financial and operating health in order to be able to do so.
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I am very proud of what the whole team at the Society have achieved this year. Of the three full years I have 
been CEO this has been the toughest and most challenging for everyone. Most obviously, we have wanted to 
ensure our Members have been looked after during the lockdown months of the pandemic. In addition, we 
embarked on a major technology transformation project just before the COVID-19 lockdown commenced. 
In what have been extraordinarily challenging circumstances, we have managed to sustain the operation 
to look after our Members throughout the crisis. Although we have had to slightly compromise on service 
levels at times, we have kept every branch open and continued processing mortgage applications and 
telephone enquiries throughout the period. The branch teams contacted lists of older, more vulnerable 
Members who depend on cash to make sure they knew how we could help them ensure they had enough 
money. We received over four hundred enquiries from Members concerned about their mortgage 
payments during the pandemic. We were able to listen and help everyone who needed our support.

As well as achieving budget for profit we have also exceeded £90m for gross lending for a third consecutive year. I believe this is the first time 
this level of lending has ever been achieved successively over three years. As a result we have grown our balance sheet by a healthy 4%. This 
means the balance sheet is now 23% larger than at the beginning of 2017.  

It looks likely that the pandemic will continue for some time to come but at this point we have implemented ways of working that have kept 
all our staff safe too. Sickness absence is lower than the same point last year. In our branches we have supplied colleagues with masks, visors, 
sanitiser as well as screens and barriers. As a result of significant investment in IT over the last twelve months, we were able to transition 
head office colleagues to remote working within a few days. At the time of writing we are all grateful that no colleague has tested positive 
for COVID-19.

Our financial strength means that we have not needed to access any government help or the Furlough Scheme. We have continued to pay 
full salaries to all colleagues and avoided reducing working hours or redundancies. We were able to award all staff a cost of living pay-rise for 
2021.

In terms of commercial results, we are pleased to report near record levels of lending - far exceeding budget - coupled with strong margin 
management. Despite the pandemic and associated lockdown the team have also achieved our budget for profit too. In addition to successful 
revenue management, the team have taken every opportunity to drive costs down and save money.

Investing for the Future – People
Recruiting and developing local talent has been a constant theme of the Society for many years. Last year we announced the promotion of 
Larne Payne to Finance Director. Since the summer of last year, we have added three local colleagues to the Leadership Team. Lynsey Carter, 
Will Jones and Anna Guy have joined Hanley Economic as Head of Operations, Technology and Risk respectively. All three of them bring 
new experience and skills to the Society. In addition, we were delighted to promote Jenny Jones to Head of Finance. Jenny is another local 
colleague who joined the Society three years ago as a Management Accountant. 

I believe under Larne’s leadership we have one of the strongest Finance teams in the Society’s history – which includes an Apprentice and 
three more colleagues working towards completing their professional qualifications. As a Board, we very much want the Society to be both 
a great place to work and somewhere colleagues can develop themselves and their careers. The Society has a strong legacy of balancing the 
value of long standing skilled staff with the development of the Leadership Team. During the pandemic the collective 50 years of Society 
knowledge from our Head of Branches and Head of Business Development was integral to maintaining operations for new and existing 
Members.

In the last three years we have increased spending on Training and Development by more than 25%. Over the same time period unforced staff 
turnover has fallen from over 20% to below 5%. 

Key Performance Indicators 2020

(£'000)

2019

(£'000)

2018

(£'000)

Movement

%

Operating Profit 833 855 1,475 (2.62)

Profit after tax 737 700 1,201 5.23

Liquidity 86,439 87,028 94,316 (0.68)

Mortgage Balances 375,253 355,974 327,504 5.42

Retail Savings 395,019 375,086 343,478 5.31

Reserves 28,815 28,056 27,341 2.70



ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS  4 

A Great Place to Work
We were delighted to win a place again in the 2020 Sunday Times Best Small Companies to work for in the UK.  This is the second consecutive 
year we have been recognised as an outstanding employer. The HR team, led by Deborah Henry, have delivered a programme that along with 
the Leadership Team, has achieved extraordinary colleague engagement.  We believe this is the foundation for great customer service as well 
as our commercial success. 

Investing for the future – Technology 
Much of the technology and associated infrastructure at the Society was more than ten years old and beyond its normally expected life-span. 
In the last year we have invested to completely replace this hardware and upgrade our network. Led by Will Jones, the Technology team have 
transformed the infrastructure and given us a stable and robust environment that is now ready for growth. This investment meant that when 
COVID-19 forced the lockdown we were able to seamlessly move to remote working within a few days. 

Investing for the Future – Project Capstone
The banking software the Society uses, is at its core, more than 25 years old. Given the growth in our business levels in the last three years, 
the Board recognised that the Society needed to review the core banking system and test that it was fit for upcoming challenges. The Board 
has a clear objective to ensure Hanley Economic is a strong, viable business with a sustainable future. 

In September 2019 we began a process of assessing the current system against potential replacements. We used a small, external consultancy 
to support the Leadership Team in this process. The consultancy (Whitecap Consulting) have deep experience in procurement processes as 
well as wide knowledge of the financial services technology market. 

It was clear to the team that our future technology needs to support the strategic direction of the Society whilst maintaining the choice and 
service current Members’ value. We also need to recognise the potential that some Members may want more modern online and digital 
services as well as the more traditional passbook and branch based service we will always offer. 

In February 2020 the Board signed a service agreement and contract with DPR Software. We then initiated Project ‘Capstone’ to transition 
from our current systems provider to a new core banking and online system. Once launched, the new system will enable the Society to offer 
more online services to Members and to make our business more accessible and modern. This means new customers and mortgage brokers 
will find Hanley Economic a far easier organisation to bring their business to. The new system also provides a more robust platform for future 
growth. DPR also supports all our current services and branch operations.

This is a significant, complex project for the team and probably the biggest transformation in the Society’s history. To support the change we 
have engaged the expertise of a number of external firms with specific skills and experience. We will only make the transition when the Board 
are content that the risks are well managed and Members are protected.

Supporting our Community 
The restrictions associated with the Coronavirus pandemic have limited the ways in which we have been able to support our local charities. 
We have continued to support Alice, Dougie Mac, Glow and YMCA with our Charity Saver Account which has grown by over £1m this year 
– which will mean nearly £6,000 donation shared amongst our four partners. The Dougie Mac Saver continues to contribute to the hospice 
– this year we will donate over £31,000. We hope to re-start some of the bigger events and volunteering when the government guidelines 
support those activities. Despite the lockdown colleagues have supported our community with:

• Donations of £250 for every Charity partner
• Coat collections for the Macari Centre
• Oatcake mornings
• Collections and volunteering for the People’s Pantry
• An Easter Egg hunt
 
Outlook 
The government’s Furlough Scheme is expected to end in October 2020 and the Brexit transition period ends in December 2020. The Bank 
of England is forecasting significant unemployment and slower economic growth. There is little expectation that interest rates will rise. It is 
therefore reasonable to suggest that it may be a tough twelve months for the economy during our next financial year. 
More locally, we have the bulk of our technology project ‘Capstone’ to execute during this financial year. To aid the transition we will plan to 
slow lending to minimise risk but this will impact on next year’s balance sheet growth and profit. The Board sees this reduction in expectations 
and results as an investment in the Society’s future. 

Whatever the challenges of 2021, you can be assured that the Board and all the team at Hanley Economic Building Society will continue to 
provide the service and support our Members have enjoyed for 166 years. 

Mark Selby 
Chief Executive

6 November 2020



ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS  5

Strategic Business Review

The Directors are pleased to present their Annual Report, together with the Group and Society Accounts and Annual Business 

Statement, for the year ended 31 August 2020.

Business strategy and objectives

The Board has developed a strategy to deliver its vision to be ‘the chosen provider of savings and mortgages within our heartland, 

built on trusted values and exceptional service.

The Group’s principal business objectives are the provision of mortgage finance for the purchase and improvement of residential 

property, savings products for private individuals and local businesses, related services and other financial services.

Key performance indicators

The Board use a number of key performance indicators to monitor the development, performance and position of the Society on 

an ongoing basis. These are included to give Members a more comprehensive understanding of the Society’s progress over the last 

three years. 

The Directors are satisfied with the Group’s performance, summarised as one of sustained growth in both savings and mortgages, 

together with a positive contribution to the Group’s capital base.

Key Performance Indicators 2020 2019 2018

Total Assets (£’000) 465,602 446,974 426,276

Asset Growth 4.17% 4.86% 5.62%

New Mortgage Lending (£’000) 93,632 96,132 91,768

Mortgage Growth 5.42% 8.69% 8.17%

Retail Shares Balance net increase / (decrease) (£’000) 19,933 31,608 9,887

Total Retail Shares and Deposit Growth 4.38% 8.29% 2.40%

Net Interest Margin (% of mean total assets) 1.33% 1.37% 1.32%

Gross Capital (% of shares and deposit liabilities) 6.63% 6.72% 6.87%

Liquid Assets (% of shares and deposit liabilities) 19.88% 20.86% 23.69%

Post-tax profit (£’000) 737 700 1,201

Management Expenses (% of mean total assets) 1.19% 1.15% 1.08%
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Strategic Business Review continued

Assets

Total assets have increased by 4.17% (2019: 4.86%) from £446.97m at the end of 2019, up to £465.60m at the end of 2020. This was 

achieved by solid growth in mortgage balances funded through £31.61m of retail shares. Growth for the Society continues to be 

ahead of inflation.

The Society, as a mutual, considers the growth in its assets as a key objective in its future, specifically that, in order to ensure a 

sustainable growth model, the growth in assets must be relative to the growth in capital. 

Lending

Mortgage balances have increased by £19.28m in the year to £375.25m (2019: £355.97m), with near record gross lending (the total 

value of all new mortgage advances) of £93.63m (2019: £96.13m). In keeping with the Society’s mutual status, new lending in the 

year has been predominantly secured on residential property to owner occupiers at 81.27% of the total advanced over the financial 

year (2019: 79.79%). The remaining 18.73% (2019: 20.21%) has been secured against residential buy to let or self-build properties. 

Redemptions in the year were £61.78m (2019: £54.51m), indicative of the strong retention of Members reaching the end of their 

incentivised product period and providing a material contribution to mortgage growth of 5.42% (2019: 8.68%) during a turbulent 

economic year.

The Society continues to innovate in regards to mortgage products, receiving accolades throughout the year and ensuring position 

within core lending arenas is maintained. This recognition underlines our continued commitment in helping both aspiring first time 

buyers to get on to the property ladder, and supporting existing home owners with their re-mortgage aspirations. Whilst the Society 

acknowledges the desire to support Members in its Heartland, the role 

of  the intermediary is also recognised, with 69.83% (2019: 63.69%) of 

advances sourced through brokers, solidifying the Society as a national 

lender.

Competitively priced products together with our focus on providing a 

personal service to our Members helped us to increase our total gross 

mortgage assets, excluding provisions, to £378.74m (2019: £360.56m). 

The Society’s exposure to residential properties by way of mortgages is 

96.31% (2019: 96.14%).

Included in loans secured on residential property are a total of 10 cases (2019: 10), with a balance outstanding of £13.87m (2019: 

£13.87m), all of which are either in possession or under management by a Law of Property Act Receiver. Although these cases have 

experienced previous financial difficulty, each has now been let thereby protecting the fabric of the buildings over which the Society 

has a charge, as well as generating an income stream. As at 31 August 2020 total specific impairment provisions of £5.05m (2019: 

£5.05m) are held against these exposures. The above are legacy exposures as a result of previous financial recessions i.e 2008 - 2012.

The Society applies a prudent lending policy combined with a sympathetic and efficient arrears procedure to ensure that arrears 

are kept to a minimum. However, despite our prudent and responsible lending policy, individual borrower’s circumstances can 

change which occasionally leads to difficulties in meeting their normal monthly mortgage payments. The Society reviews each case 

individually where borrowers are experiencing difficulties and offers forbearance measures where it is appropriate for the borrower. 

The aim of these forbearance measures is to reduce the risk of the borrower ultimately losing their home. This personal approach has 

been increasingly in demand due to the external economic factors that have developed in the year as a result of COVID-19.

During the year, the Society began to offer payment holidays in response to the government guidance regarding COVID-19 to help 

borrowers experiencing financial difficulty as a direct result of the pandemic. Under this government guidance, borrowers are not 

classed as past due whilst under an initial or secondary payment holiday. As at 31 August 2020 there were 63 cases (2019: 0) under a 

COVID-19 payment holiday, equivalent to 3.09% (2019: 0) of the overall portfolio.

At 31 August 2020 there were 0 cases (2019: 0) where the borrowers were 12 months or more in arrears, with a balance outstanding 

£nil (2019: £nil). The value of mortgage accounts in arrears, past due by 3 months or more or impaired, as a percentage of the overall 

portfolio was 4.73% (2019: 5.41%). 

In certain circumstances the Society uses forbearance measures to assist those borrowers who are experiencing financial difficulty. 
In each case an individual assessment is made to ensure forbearance is in the best interests of both the borrower and the Society. It 
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Strategic Business Review continued

is expected that the borrowers will resume normal payments once they are able. As at 31 August 2020, there were 5 cases (2019: 5) 
under forbearance measures with total balances of £0.68m (2019: £0.68m) and arrears totalling £7.64k (2019: £7.64k). The Board 
assesses the impact of forbearance measures regularly and considers that if there is a possibility of loss, a provision is made in 
accordance with the Society’s policies.

The main options offered by the Society include: temporary transfer to an interest only mortgage; reduced monthly payment; product 
review; and the extension of mortgage term. During the year the Society has also offered payment holidays temporarily as a result of 
government guidance.

Looking forward, the Board remains committed to the traditional nature of its loan portfolio as residential property is the core market 
which the Society knows well, enabling prudent and practical lending decisions to continue to be made.

Funding 
As a mutual the Society continues to be predominantly funded by retail savings, which increased to £395.02m by the Statement 
of Financial Position date (2019: £375.09m). Savings balances from individuals accounted for 90.87% (2019: 89.90%) of our total 
funding, and has been driven through the Society’s commitment to providing competitive rates of interest relative to highstreet peers 
to its Members, in conjunction with its well established branch network.

Alongside retail savings the Society maintains retail deposits with 
small and medium size companies of £18.25m (2019: £20.83m), 
giving a total shares and deposits exposure of £413.27m (2019: 
£395.92m). The Society also has a modest level of wholesale funding 
from building societies and local authorities of £6.43m (2019: 
£6.27m), and also maintained a £15.00m exposure to central bank 
term funding schemes (‘TFS’) (2019: £15.00m).

The Board remains committed to their strategic objective of 
supporting the Society’s lending growth through retail savings. The Board is mindful of the potential challenge to both attract, and 
retain retail savings, with competition anticipated to increase as we approach the repayment of TFS funding. The environment also 
has further challenges with respect to the evolving macroeconomic climate in light of COVID-19 and potential impact on customer 
behaviour. 

Net Interest Margin

Net interest margin is interest receivable less interest payable, expressed as a percentage of the simple average of the Group’s total 
assets at the beginning and end of the financial year. As a result of increasing market competition, particularly in respect of mortgages, 
the Society has found it challenging to increase its interest margin whilst growing both its mortgage and retails savings base.

Net interest margin of 1.33% (2019: 1.37%) has fallen during the year, predominantly as a result of the 0.65% fall in the Bank of 
England Base rate. The Society passed on the decrease in full where product terms and conditions allowed, to both mortgage and 
savings customers, however noting the significant decrease in liquidity yield from its Bank of England Reserve Account and debt 

securities. 

The Society continues to experience significant competition for mortgage business. Our determination to offer our Members 
competitive deals in line with the market meant that we reduced rates and fees on new lending, and also sought to reward the loyalty 
of our existing borrowers by reducing the rates we offer to those switching products. Our savings rates continue to be competitively 
positioned in the market as we try to protect our Members from the full impact of the historically low interest rate environment.

Going forward the interest margin pressure the Society has experienced over this financial year is likely to continue, if not increase. 
Competition in the prime residential lending arena will only heighten; forcing mortgage margins lower, particularly with the uncertainty 
remaining around the EU referendum and long term impact of COVID-19. The Board will continue in its objective to widen net interest 

margin appropriately, and in line with both its asset and capital growth expectations.

Capital
General reserves at 31 August 2020 of £28.80m (2019: £28.06m) grew by 2.70%, sourced solely from retained profits for the year of 
£0.74m. Gross capital is defined as general reserves as shown in the Group’s Statement of Financial Position, and free capital as the 
aggregate of gross capital and general loss provisions less tangible fixed assets. The Directors ensure that a satisfactory level of capital 
is maintained to protect the Group against adverse market movements or changes in economic conditions.

413,271 

395,919 

357,057 

337,323 

317,039 

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016
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Strategic Business Review continued

At the year end the ratio of gross capital as a percentage of total shares and deposit liabilities was 6.63% (2019: 6.72%) and free capital 
was 6.01% (2019: 6.12%). The Group continues to maintain a strong capital position despite seeing a fall in both gross and free capital 
ratios as a result of the differential between assets growth and capital growth, a trend anticipated to continue in the medium term.
The Core Tier 1 (unaudited) ratio stood at 16.16% (2019: 16.74%) and the Leverage ratio (unaudited) stood at 5.73% (2019: 6.04%). 
Tier 1 Capital was £27.08m (2019: £27.34m) and Tier 2 Capital £0.36m (2019: £0.13m), providing total Capital resources of £27.44m 
(2019: £27.47m).

The Board complies with the Basel IV Capital Requirements Directive 
(CRD) which requires the Society to assess the adequacy of its capital 
strength through an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process 
(ICAAP). Through the ICAAP the Board is satisfied that the Society holds a 
level of capital more than sufficient to satisfy the CRD’s Pillar 1 minimum 
capital requirements and additional identified Pillar 2 capital to mitigate 
the principal risks to which the Society is exposed. The Board approve 
the ICAAP on an annual basis, and it is reviewed by the PRA in setting 
the Society’s capital requirements as Total Capital Requirement (TCR). 
Regulatory Capital held by the Society at the Statement of Financial Position date was £17.60m, well in excess of that required by the 
Regulator. Further details of the Society’s approach to risk management can be found in the Society’s Pillar 3 disclosures required by 
the CRD on the Society’s website, www.thehanley.co.uk.

Liquidity
The Society held total liquidity of £86.44m (2019: £87.03m) representing 19.88% (2019: 20.86%) of shares and deposit liabilities as 
at the year end. Total liquidity balances include £57.50m (2019: £59.04m) deposited with the Bank of England’s Reserve Account and 
£17.00m (2019: £3.00m) in respect of Treasury Bills. All of these investments are deemed as high quality liquid assets and qualify 
towards the Society’s liquidity buffer. The growth in Treasury Bills in the year was as a result of the strategy of the Society to diversify 
its high quality liquid assets following the Base Rate falls.

The Society undertakes an Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP) at least annually, which is reviewed by the Board. 
The ILAAP identifies all the major liquidity risks faced by the Society and assesses the quantity and quality of liquid assets it is required 
to hold under both normal and stressed conditions, ensuring adequate liquidity levels are maintained. Although the Society has 
not experienced any difficulties in obtaining funding in the challenging market conditions that have existed in recent years, we fully 
recognise the importance of maintaining a strong liquidity position. Despite a fall in liquidity levels the Society has remained in excess 
of both the Boards’ internal assessment of minimum requirements, and the minimum regulatory requirements, throughout the year.  

The Society monitors both the short-term liquidity ratio, Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR), and long term liquidity ratio, Net Stable 
Funding Ratio (NSFR). The Society maintained liquidity quantity and quality well in excess of both of these regulatory limits.

In readiness for the ongoing TFS repayment the Society intends to gradually increase its levels of liquidity notably above minimum 
requirements, this in turn will adversely impact both net interest margin and profitability in the coming years.  

Profit
Post-tax profit for the year of £0.74m (2019: £0.70m) was transferred to reserves as, being a mutual, we aim to maintain an appropriate 
level of profit in order to further strengthen our capital position and support our growth in lending.  

Post-tax profit ratio measures the proportion that these net earnings bear to the simple average of total assets at the beginning and 
end of the financial year. The Society maintained a post-tax profit ratio of 0.21% (2019: 0.16%.)

The long term future profitability of the Society is anticipated to remain relatively stable despite the projected interest margin 

compression and increase in costs, however it is noted that the incoming core system transition as part of project ‘Capstone’ will 

have a material impact upon management expenses in the short term. Historically low interest rates will also potentially hinder 

profitability, with expectations subdued due to the developing economic impact of COVID-19.

28,815 

28,056 

27,341 

26,158 

25,032 

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016
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Strategic Business Review continued

Management Expenses

Management expenses are the Group’s administrative expenses and represent the ordinary costs of running the organisation. They 

comprise mainly the costs of employing and investing in staff, maintaining the branch network and contemporising our brand, ongoing 

advancements in IT and the increasing costs of regulation. 

The Board is committed to ensuring cost efficiency to sustain a level of profitability to protect Members’ interests. During the year 

administrative expenses increased to £5.25m (2019: £4.90m) principally as a result of the instigation of project ‘Capstone’ and the 

associated investment in IT infrastructure. Cost pressures have also arisen due to a combination of general inflationary pressures 

and business growth, the increased cost of regulatory compliance and continued investment in staffing across the Society to ensure 

excellent customer service and appropriate skill at all levels of the business.

The management expenses ratio measures the proportion that these expenses 

bear to the simple average of total assets at the beginning and end of the financial 

year. The management expenses ratio is one simple measure of the efficiency 

with which the Group is run. The Board seeks to control this ratio while at the 

same time ensuring the Group has sufficient resources to operate effectively in 

a competitive and heavily regulated market. Overall the management expenses 

ratio has increased to 1.19% (2019: 1.15%) supported through the growth in 

assets.

Over the coming financial years the Society expects further increases to its costs base in the continuation of investment in order to 

respond to changes in our market demographic, social behaviours to ultimately grow the business and specifically with the finalisation 

of the core system transition. 

Other indicators

Financial ratios are just one measure of the Group’s performance. It is important to the Directors that the Society is also successful 

in terms of the quality of customer service and Member satisfaction. The Society’s Customer Forum is held on a regular basis to seek 

Member feedback.

Risk management report

Risk management and governance arrangements provide processes for identifying and managing the most significant risks to the 

Group’s objectives. These processes allow the Society to be aware of these risks at an early stage and as far as possible mitigate 

them. The ability to properly identify, measure, monitor and report risk is vital in ensuring financial strength, appropriate customer 

outcomes and the ongoing security of Members’ funds.

Risk governance and strategy

Risks arise naturally in the course of doing business and especially within the financial services industry. To mitigate these risks to 

acceptable levels, the Board has put in place a Risk Management Framework which covers all aspects of the Society’s operations.

The Board is responsible for all areas of the Society’s business. In particular, its role is to focus on the Society’s strategy and to ensure 

that the necessary resources are in place to meet its objectives. The Board is likewise responsible for the design and operational 

effectiveness of controls within the Society. The Risk Committee, which comprising of three Non-Executive Directors, considers all risk 

matters relating to the ongoing safety and soundness of the Society. Full details of the Group’s governance committee structure are 

included in the Corporate Governance report.

Through its governance structure the Board operates an open and honest culture when identifying and monitoring risks. This culture 

is underpinned by appropriate risk training for staff, good risk identification and escalation procedures and a robust whistleblowing 

mechanism.

The Risk Committee has clear sight of both current and emerging risks. Underpinning this strategy is a statement of specific risks which 

the Board will not accept and includes any course of action that will contribute or could reasonably be anticipated to contribute to 



ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS  10 

Strategic Business Review continued

the following occurrences:

•    Irreparable damage to brand and reputation;

•    A prolonged loss or disruption to service to a significant number of Members and customers;

•    Any significant deviation from the key elements of the Corporate Plan;

•    Any breach of law;

•    Breach of regulation which could lead to intervention and/or sanction; and

•    Physical or mental injury to any employees, Members, customers or stakeholders.

Financial risk management

The Society has a formal structure for managing financial risk which is closely monitored and controlled by the Risk Committee, 

supported by the Audit & Compliance Committee and the Assets & Liabilities Committee. The Society uses financial instruments for 

risk management purposes, details of which are set out in Note 30.set out in Note 30.

Risk management framework

The Society’s risk management framework comprises five elements:

1.  Articulation of the Society’s risk appetite by the Board of Directors 

The Board sets an overarching risk appetite statement for the Society. This is supported by a series of risk appetite statements for 

key risks faced which, together with measurable limits, provide a framework for decision making and to identify and articulate the 

risks that the Board is willing to take in delivering the corporate plan of the Society.    

The Society operates as a prudent organisation in the level of risk it is willing to take in order to achieve strategic goals. This 

approach has been disseminated by the Board throughout the Society, thereby clearly communicating the risk culture. This culture 

ensures the tone from the top, set by the Board, is reflected in behaviours and decision-making. 

Additionally, the Board has set a boundary condition to be able to withstand a severe but plausible stress and continue to report 

an accounting profit and meet minimum capital requirements. The Society utilises early warning triggers through a variety of Key 

Performance Indicators, Board limits and regulatory limits to highlight any area of concern or potential breach of risk appetite.

The Society’s performance against Board limits and early warning triggers is reviewed at each Risk Committee and on a quarterly 

basis by the Audit & Compliance Committee.

2. Board committee structures overseeing the risk management and internal control framework 

The Risk Committee oversees the risk management framework (including internal controls) within the Society and to support and 

provide guidance to the Leadership Team, comprising of the Executive Directors and Senior Managers, in the execution of their 

respective roles. 

3. Internal governance framework

The Society operates an internal governance framework that includes a ‘three lines of defence’ model, together with structured 

Non-Executive and Executive Committees with defined authorities, terms of reference and reporting lines as detailed in the 

Corporate Governance report.  

4. Appropriate management information

Management information is provided to the Board and relevant committees based on reporting parameters defined between the 

Board and Leadership Team and it is directly related to the risk appetite and strategic objectives defined by the Board.

5. Continuous process of risk assessment

It is important that the Society has the ability to respond to changes in the macro-economic environment, new competition and 

regulatory change and that the Society’s risk management framework supports a continuous approach to risk assessment and the 

determination of risk appetite and strategy. The ‘three lines of defence model’ ensures that there is an effective assessment of 

risks within the Society.

The information provided to the Board by the Leadership Team directly and via the relevant committees continually supports the 

Board’s consideration of the current and future risks attached to the Society’s business, the nature and strength of internal controls 

and the strategic options.
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Three lines of defence
The Society has a formal structure for managing risks and operates a ‘three lines of defence’ model which is recognised as an industry 
standard for risk management. The management of risks is detailed in risk management policies set by the Board.

First line of defence
The Leadership Team own and manage risks as the first line of defence. They are responsible for identifying, assessing, controlling and 
mitigating risks by implementing corrective actions to address process and control deficiencies.

Second line of defence

The Society’s Risk function is the second line of defence which monitors and reports on risk and compliance to the relevant committee. 
It helps to ensure the Society complies with applicable laws and regulations and that policies and procedures are contemporary and 
operating as intended. 

Third line of defence
Internal Audit provide the third line of defence providing the Audit & Compliance Committee and Board with comprehensive assurance 
based on a level of independence and objectivity which is not available in the second line of defence. 

Review of risks and internal controls 

The Committee reviewed and discussed management information covering prudential, operational and conduct risks. This has been 
enhanced to help better provide the Committee with meaningful data and analysis in support of the Society’s internal controls and 
risk management activities.

Risk appetite statements 

These have been reviewed and revised to help keep them measurable and relevant.

Emerging risks 

A standing agenda item whereby the Risk Committee looks ahead to emerging risks whether stemming from regulatory, legal, political, 
social or economic initiatives. In the main this results in changes to processes and procedures e.g. General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR) but clearly there is the potential for changes to arise which would have greater impact upon the Society’s strategy.

Principal risks and uncertainties

Building societies operate within a highly competitive financial services market, consequently many of the risks arise simply from 
competing within such an environment. Hanley Economic, like all businesses, faces a number of risks and uncertainties and seeks 
to actively manage these risks. The Society has an overall cautious approach to risk, which helps to maintain Member confidence 
particularly in difficult market conditions. The identification and management of risk is a high priority and is integral to strategy and 
operations. The principal risks inherent in the Society’s business are detailed below.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of a customer or counterparty not meeting their financial obligations to the Society as they fall due. This risk is 
most likely to arise in the potential inability of a customer to make repayments on their mortgage, and of treasury counterparties to 
repay loan commitments.

The risk of treasury counterparty default is managed through Board approved Liquidity, Funding and Structural Risk policies. Liquidity, Funding and Structural Risk policies. Counterparty 
credit quality and exposure limits are monitored by the Assets & Liabilities Committee who make recommendations to the Board on 
changes in any of its related policies.  

Mortgage credit risk is managed through the Society’s underwriting process which seeks to ensure that customers can afford 

to repay their debt. All mortgage applications are rigorously assessed with reference to the Society’s Lending Policy. Changes to 

policy are approved by the Board and the approval of mortgage applications is mandated. All applications are supported by an 

independent valuation sourced from the Society’s authorised panel of valuers. In the unfortunate event of customers experiencing 

financial difficulties the Society is highly proactive in providing support which can include working with them to clear arrears, making 

arrangements, or forbearance.  

In respect of properties under possession, the Society may take a longer term approach to the management of these loans. This 

enables the Society to take advantage of any positive cyclical movements in underlying property values. The Society may however, 
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agree to sell before the disposal term end date with approval from the Board. 

However, determining the appropriateness of impairment losses for such long term approaches is judgemental and requires the 

Society to make a number of assumptions. The preparation of the Society’s financial statements in accordance with UK GAAP requires 

management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions in applying the accounting policies that affect the reported value of 

such assets. Due to the inherent uncertainty in making estimates, actual results reported in future periods may differ from current 

estimates. Estimates, judgements and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. This is further explained in Note 

1  to the accounts.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Society is not able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Society’s Liquidity Policy is 

to maintain adequate liquid resources, both in amount and quality, to cover cash flow imbalances and fluctuations in funding, to 

maintain full public confidence in the solvency of the Society and to meet its financial obligations. 

Liquidity risk is controlled in accordance with the Board’s approved Liquidity Policy, which details the approved Liquidity Risk limits set 

by the Board, which are reviewed daily by the finance team and monitored monthly by the Assets & Liabilities Committee. 

Periodic stress testing is performed to ensure obligations can be met in both normal and stressed circumstances. Compliance with 

Risk Appetite is monitored by the Assets & Liabilities Committee.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk represents the Society’s exposure to movements in interest rates, specifically the risk of movements of underlying 

market rates in variable rate products in relation to those with a fixed rate. 
Interest rate risk is managed through the utilisation of derivative financial instruments, where appropriate, and in accordance with 

the Board approved Structural Financial Risk Management Policy. Interest rate risk is monitored by Assets & Liabilities Committee on 

a monthly basis. The interest rate sensitivity exposure of the Group is set out in Note 30 toout in Note 30 to the Annual Accounts. The Society has no 

direct exposure to foreign currency exchange rates.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external events, 

including legal risk.

The Society mitigates this risk through having a robust and effective internal control framework, including internal audit and the 

Society’s compliance function, which are overseen by the Risk Committee and the Audit & Compliance Committee.

Regulatory and legal risk

Regulatory risk represents a failure of the Society to meet its regulatory requirements, including those of the PRA, FCA, Bank of 
England, HMRC, Information Commissioner's Office and the Health & Safety Directorate. 

The Board monitors these risks and their potential increase through the Risk Committee and the Audit & Compliance Committee. In 

light of the increasing regulatory demands faced by the sector the Board is alert to the potential increase posed by regulatory risk. 

Brexit

Given that the UK Government and EU have not yet agreed the terms of Brexit this heightens the political and economic uncertainty, 
specifically the potential impact on the housing market. The sector consensus appears to be that the effects will differ regionally, with 
London and the South East likely to experience the biggest impact, albeit a less severe impact than that of the 2008 financial crisis.

In the short term, the implications for increased employee costs should be minimal with a low risk of disruption of recruitment for the 
Society. There are no links or implications regarding salary costs if the pound drops in value as there are no salaries paid in currencies 
other than sterling.  However, economic growth/decline, inflation and wage rates (including minimum wage), working hours and the 
cost of living could impact in the medium to long term.  

The key is to ensure we retain staff, which includes investment in training and employee support through maintaining a positive 
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culture as a place to work. 

The Board has considered the potential impacts of Brexit and has reviewed relevant stress tests. This exercise determined that the 
Society is well positioned to manage the outcome and that our contingency plans will minimise adverse outcomes. 

Conduct risk

The Board defines conduct risk as risk arising from our conduct in our direct relationship with retail customers, or where firms we 
work with have a direct duty to retail customers. That is the risk of failing to treat its customers fairly which results in detriment to 
those customers. The Board acknowledges the requirement to fully embrace the Financial Conduct Authority’s Principle 6, namely 
to ensure that the Society pays due regard to the interests of its customers and to treat them fairly at all times. These principles are 
firmly embedded within the Society’s culture and working practices.

The Society recognises that failure to manage conduct risk can lead to unfair treatment of Members or mishandling of Members’ 
accounts and may adversely affect its business operations, threaten its objectives and strategies and the objectives of the Regulator.

A structured approach to the consideration of conduct risk management enables the Leadership Team and the Board to make fully 
informed conduct decisions without exposing the Society or its Members to unacceptable levels of risk.

The objective of the Society declaring and implementing a Conduct Risk Policy and strategy is to ensure that appropriate actions will 
be taken by the Leadership Team to identify, and manage effectively, the conduct risks to which the Society and its Members may be 
exposed.

IT and information security

The Society has continued to make a substantial investment in its technology infrastructure, so that it can maintain and develop 
services suitable for the evolving needs and expectations of Members in the financial services markets in which it operates.  The 
Society appointed a Head of Technology in June 2019 and completed upgrades of its IT infrastructure and Telephony systems in early 
2020 which has enabled it to respond effectively to the challenges arising from home working and service continuity during the 
COVID-19 pandemic.

The project to replace the Society’s core banking system will be the key area of focus during the coming financial year.  The successful 
completion of this project will ensure that Members can access the services and products offered by the Society from a range of 
technology platforms and benefit from greater integration with other systems.

Whilst there is a strong focus on the development of customer interfaces and services, the Society is also fully aware of external 
threats, in particular cybercrime attacks designed to deny access to systems and compromise, or misuse, the data and assets held on 
Society systems.  The Society has dedicated first and second line security functions, with specific responsibilities to protect Society 
and Members’ assets. An independent audit of the Society’s Cyber Security processes and procedures was conducted in late 2019 and 
recommendations from this have been implemented, including a revised Cyber Security strategy and improved reporting to senior 
management and the Board.

Independent exercises are undertaken to test the Society’s defences and to ensure that cyber controls evolve in line with the ever-
changing complexity and unpredictability of cybercrime.  Both external penetration testing and internal vulnerability assessments are 
conducted regularly to verify that the Society’s network and systems are secure.

Climate change
 
The Society recognises the increased awareness of the risks of climate change, both on the world as a whole and the arena in which 
the Society operates. The management of this risk, which presents itself predominately as a credit risk, is continually evolving, in line 
with shifts in regulation, consumer “buy in” and advancement in technology with specific respect to environmental protection.

Key risks considered include physical, such as the increased risk of flooding in certain areas, and transitional, such as a possible 
increase in regulatory burden for some borrowers to ensure energy efficiency standards are maintained, resulting in increased costs 
that could impact investment viability.

Charitable and political donations

The Society’s Charity Saver Account and the historic Douglas Macmillan Account had balances totalling £3.48m at the Statement 



ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS  14 

Strategic Business Review continued

of Financial Position date. Donations of £39k (2019: £41k) were made to the Society’s partner charities with the majority of money 
raised retail accounts and Annual General Meeting (AGM) voting donations. In addition to this, Members and staff donated £4k from 
fundraising events during the year. 

In the coming year the Society will continue its support to all its announced charity partnerships, with the aim of solidifying 
relationships within the wider community and together tackling the challenges they face. In addition, the Society sponsors, and its 
staff commit their time to a range of local charitable and community causes. This volunteering is expected to re-commence when 
pandemic restrictions allow.

No contributions were made for political purposes.

Executives and staff

The Society maintains an open recruitment and staff development policy, affording equal opportunities regardless of age, gender, 
race, religion or disability. Staff communication and training continue to remain priorities for the Society.

The Board wish to record their thanks to the staff for their commitment, support, co-operation and flexibility which is so essential to 
the ongoing success of Hanley Economic and for the benefit of the communities in which we operate. 

Acknowledgement

We would like to thank our Members for their continued loyalty and acknowledge that the Society’s success could not be achieved 

without their support. 

 

On behalf of the Board

N. M. Jordan

  Chairman

23 October 2020
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Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 August 2020

Directors
The following persons were Directors of the Society during the year and up to the date of signing the Annual Accounts:

Non-Executive Directors
N. M. Jordan (Chairman)
R. I. Henley (from 1.1.2020)
A. S. Macdonald
V. Oak (to 31.12.2019)

Executive Directors
M. E. Selby BA, MBA (Chief Executive)

L. Payne ACMA, CGMA (Finance Director)

Mr A. S. Macdonald, Mr M. E. Selby and Mr R. M. Young all retire by rotation in accordance with the Society’s rule 26(1) and being 
eligible offer themselves for re-election. 

Mr R.I. Henley and Mrs E. Whitfield were co-opted in accordance with rule 25(4) and being eligible offer themselves for election.

Business Review

The Directors are pleased that the Society can report another successful year. A review of the Society’s business performance over 
the last 12 months together with the future outlook is included in the Strategic Business Review on pages 5 to 14 which should be 
read in conjunction with this report.

Going concern 

The Directors have developed a five year view of the business and a three year forecast of the Group’s financial position for the period 
ending 31 August 2023. In doing so they have also considered the effects on the Society’s business of operating under stressed but 
plausible operating conditions, with specific reference to COVID-19 and other known sensitivities. As a result they are satisfied that 
the Society and the Group have adequate resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the accounts 
continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.

Post Statement of Financial Position events

The Directors do not consider that there have been any events since the year end that have a material effect on the financial position 
of the Group or Society. 

Auditors

At the Annual General Meeting held on 17 December 2019, a resolution to appoint KPMG LLP as External Auditor to the Society was 
passed. A resolution to re-appoint KPMG LLP as External Auditor to the Society will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting 2020. 

Disclosure of information to auditors

The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is no 
relevant information of which the Society’s auditors are unaware, and each Director has taken all the steps that they ought to have 
taken as Directors to make themselves aware of any relevant information and to establish that the Society’s auditors are aware of 
that information.

Directors Indemnity

All Directors have access to independent professional advice if required. Directors and Officers insurance has been put in place by 
the Society.

    

On behalf of the Board
N. M. Jordan

Chairman
6 November 2020

E. Whitfield (from 1.5.2020) 
S. Woodings LLB
R. M. Young MIPA
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Non-Executive Directors

Nick Jordan

Nick was appointed to the Board as Chairman in May 2018. Nick is an Oxford graduate and has over 35 years’ experience in the 

Financial Services sector in a wide variety of leadership positions both executive and non-executive, including as a Chief Risk Officer 

and Chief Credit Officer at a major domestic UK bank. He holds a small number of other Non-Executive Board directorships and is 

Deputy Chair of Governors at Latymer Upper School. Nick is married with two grown-up children.

Andrew Macdonald

Andrew Macdonald was appointed as a Non-Executive Director in September 2014. Andrew is Chair of the Audit & Compliance Com-

mittee and a member of the Assets & Liabilities Committee. He began his career in branch banking with Barclays in the late 1970’s and 

became a specialist in Treasury and Asset & Liability Risk Management. He later worked for Halifax, Skipton and Nationwide Building 

Societies, again in Treasury and Asset & Liability management roles, and was as a consequence made a Fellow of the Association of 

Corporate Treasurers in recognition of his work in this important area.

Ian Henley 

Ian joined the Board in January 2020 as a Non-Executive Director and formally took up his role as Chairman of the Risk Committee in 

April. He has spent 40 years in the financial services industry, leading client-facing teams in the UK, Europe and the US.

He has considerable experience serving on and chairing credit and risk committees and, in his most recent executive experience, was 

Global Head of Lending and Transaction Management in the Commercial Banking business of HSBC.

Ian is a graduate of Cambridge University in Modern Languages, is married with three children and spends his spare time golfing, 

skiing, walking and gardening.

Bob Young

Bob Young was co-opted the Board in May 2017 and his appointment was confirmed by Members at the AGM in December 2017.  Bob 

is also a member of both the Assets and Liabilities Committee and the Audit and Compliance Committee.

Bob spent his career as an Insolvency and Turnaround Practitioner, for the last 20 years in Stoke-on-Trent, initially as the local Director 

of PwC and later as Senior Partner of the Stoke office of Begbies Traynor. Bob then became a founder member of Currie Young Ltd 

from which he has now retired.  Since February 2020 Bob has also held a part time role for Begbies Traynor as a Business Development 

Executive. Bob lives in Caverswall and is married with 4 children and 6 grandchildren.

Liz Whitfield 

Liz joined the Board as a Non-Executive Director in May 2020 and is also a member of the Audit & Compliance Committee.

She is a Chartered Accountant and specialised in Corporate Finance at KPMG LLP and latterly as a partner at RSM. Liz then moved to 

Lloyds Banking Group, developing an initiative to interface with the national accountancy firms. Here, she was appointed Chair of the 

Women’s Network, becoming heavily involved in diversity and inclusion.

In 2014, after qualifying as an executive coach, Liz founded Growth Plans Ltd, a coaching and consultancy business. 

She is married with 2 grown-up children. She is delighted to be a part of Hanley Economic and believes in its strong values and ethics 

focused on its Members and the local community.
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Executive Directors

Simon Woodings 

Simon Woodings was appointed to the Board as a Non-Executive Director in April 2016 and is chair of the Remuneration Committee 

and a member of the Audit and Compliance Committee. Simon spent his career in a Stoke-on-Trent based law firm as a corporate/

commercial lawyer becoming senior partner until joining his family’s fire protection engineering business in October 2015. Simon lives 

in Staffordshire and is married with two children.

Mark Selby

Mark Selby, joined the Society as CEO in November 2016 having previously been COO at Abbey National/Santander and Virgin Money. 

Before entering banking, Mark had a career in food retailing working for Sainsbury’s and Greggs. Mark has a Masters degree in 

Business from Cranfield University and a first degree from University of East Anglia. Mark is married with two sons. 

Larne Payne

After initially working within the NHS, Larne joined the Society in 2012 as Financial Controller, qualifying as a Management Accountant 

the following year. Over this period she has developed a wide range of financial services experience including Balance Sheet 

Management, Financial Control and Regulatory Reporting.  

Larne, who lives locally, joined the Board as Finance Director in 2019. She is Chair of both the Assets and Liabilities Committee and 

Product Development Committee, as well as an attendee of the Risk Committee and Audit & Compliance Committee.
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Directors’ Remuneration

The purpose of this report is to inform Members of Hanley Economic about our policy on the remuneration of Executive and Non-
Executive Directors. This Policy is reviewed annually by the Board. 

The Remuneration Committee

The Committee is responsible for the remuneration policy for all Executive Directors of the Society, Senior Managers and the 
Chairman of the Society. It makes recommendations to the Board regarding remuneration and contractual arrangements. In reviewing 
remuneration, the Committee has regard to both the supervisory statement issued by the Prudential Regulation Authority and the 
Financial Conduct Authority relating to remuneration and the UK Corporate Governance Code. The Committee meets at least twice 
a year. In making its decisions it considers comparative remuneration packages and reviews supporting evidence, including taking 
external professional advice where appropriate. 

Policy for Executive Directors and Senior Team members

The Board’s policy is to set remuneration levels which will attract and retain high calibre Executive Directors and Senior Team 
members, and to encourage excellent performance through rewards directly linked to the achievement of Hanley Economic’s strategic 
objectives. The main components of remuneration are:

a)  Basic Salary  –  which takes into account the role and position of individuals including professional experience, responsibilities, job 
complexity and market conditions. Basic salary is reviewed annually.  

b)  Pensions  –  which involves Hanley Economic contributing to the personal pension arrangements of its Executive Directors. The 
Society does not have a Defined Benefit/Final Salary pension scheme.

c)  Incentive Schemes – which take into account performance of the Society over a range of areas reflecting the mutual status of the 
Society and importantly, not purely its financial performance. Further benefits under this scheme are paid over a period of years 
and are subject to non-payment if performance deteriorates.

d)  Other Benefits  –  include the provision of a car allowance to each Executive Director and Senior Team member, private medical 
insurance, income protection and a concessionary mortgage rate on loans up to £500,000.

All benefits are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee paying particular regard to the type of behaviours they may 
promote.
Executive Directors have contractual notice periods of up to 6 months and so any termination payment would not exceed 6 months’ 
salary and accrued benefits. 
The individual performances of the Executive Board members are reviewed on an annual basis by the Remuneration Committee. 

Policy for Non-Executive Directors

The remuneration of all Non-Executive Directors is reviewed on an annual basis using external benchmarking data for other comparable 
building societies, and by a performance review process undertaken by the Society’s Chairman. The level of remuneration for non-
executive Board members is set by the Chairman and the Chief Executive.

The Chairman’s performance review is conducted by the Senior Independent Director and his remuneration is reviewed and set by 
the Remuneration Committee. 

There are no bonus or incentive schemes for Non-Executive Directors and they do not qualify for pension entitlement or other 
benefits. Non-Executive Directors do receive as part of their remuneration a travel allowance for travel to meetings at head office and 
may claim expenses in accordance with the Society’s prevailing expenses policy.
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S. Woodings

Chair of the Remuneration Committee

6 November 2020

Directors' Remuneration Group and Society

2020 2019

Directors’ emoluments: £000 £000

For services as a Non-Executive Director 163 147

For executive services 417 287

580 434

Emoluments of the Society's Directors are listed below.

2020 2019

Non-Executive Directors: £000 £000

N. M. Jordan (Chairman) 43 40

R. I. Henley (from 1.1.2020) 18 -

A. S. Macdonald 31 29

V. Oak (to 31.12.2019) 9 26

E. Whitfield (from 1.5.2020) 8 -

S. Woodings 27 26

R. M. Young 27 26

163 147

Executive Directors:

Salary Benefits Sub-total Pension 

Contribution

Sub-total

2020 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

M. E. Selby 210 58 270 26 294

L. Payne 90 22 112 11 123

300 80 382 37 417

2019 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

M. E. Selby 200 38 238 25 263

L. Payne (from 18.6.2019) 19 3 22 2 24

219 41 260 27 287
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Corporate Governance
Hanley Economic is committed to best practice in Corporate Governance. Our approach is based on the principles and provisions 
of the UK Corporate Governance Code 2020 (the Code) published by the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) which applies to listed 
companies. Whilst the Society is not a listed company the Board has regard to the recommendations of the Code and follows those 
elements that are considered to be appropriate and proportionate to Hanley Economic. This report sets out how the Group operates 
and conducts its business in a prudent and efficient manner, thereby maintaining high standards of governance for the benefit of its 
Members, both current and future. 

The Directors are satisfied that the Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable, and provide the 
information necessary for Members to assess the Society’s performance, business model and strategy. The Audit & Compliance 
Committee reviewed and challenged the assumptions, estimates and sensitivities to key accounting estimates and are satisfied that 

the results are appropriately presented.

The Board roles and responsibilities
The Society’s Rules require that the Board should comprise between five and nine Directors. The Board currently comprises a 
Chairman, five Non-Executive Directors and two Executive Directors. 
The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive are held by different people and are distinct in their purpose. The Chairman is 
responsible for the leadership of the Board and ensuring its effectiveness on all aspects of its role. The Chairman is responsible for 
setting the Board’s agenda and promoting a culture of openness and debate and the Board strongly supports the Society’s aim to look 
after its employees to deliver the best service levels possible at all times. 
The role of Non-executive directors is to bring independent judgement and perspective to the Board debates and decisions, as well 
as constructively challenging the work and proposal of the Executive Directors and the Leadership Team at the management level.  
In doing so, non-executive directors apply the highest standards of conduct, integrity and probity. As members of the Board and 
committees, they assist in the discharge of the duties and obligations in line with terms of reference. 
All Directors have access to independent professional advice, if required, and also access to the services of the Society Secretary.
The Board meets at least 8 times per year and convenes a separate strategy meeting where the Society’s strategic objectives are 
agreed together with financial and operational resources to deliver these objectives. For each meeting, comprehensive Board packs 
are circulated in a timely manner to ensure Board members can perform their duties effectively.
Certain responsibilities are delegated to a number of Board Committees, each one having clear and detailed Terms of Reference.  
Powers are delegated from the Board through documented delegated authorities and set of responsibilities, decision making and 
approval powers of the Executive Directors, leadership and management team.

The principal functions of the Board are to –

•  Set the Society’s Strategy, policy, internal limits, risk appetite and risk management framework;
•  Ensure there are robust systems and controls in place;
•  Review business performance against objectives;
•  Maintain a strong capital base and liquidity;
•  Provide financial reporting to regulators and members;
•  Determine remuneration of Non-Executive, Executive Directors and Leadership Team members;
•  Formulate succession plans for Board and Senior Management;
•  Provide supportive, constructive and objective challenge to the Executive Directors/Leadership Team;
•  Operate in a compliant manner and in accordance with regulatory and legal requirements;
•  Establish the Society’s purpose, values and strategy, and satisfy itself that these and its culture are aligned;
•  To act with integrity, lead by example and promote the desired culture; and
•  Assess and monitor culture.  

Where it is not satisfied that policy, practices or behaviour throughout the Society are aligned with the Society’s purpose, values 
and strategy, it should seek assurance that management has taken corrective action. The annual report should explain the Board’s 
activities and any action taken. In addition, it should include an explanation of the Society’s approach to investing in and rewarding 

its workforce;
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In addition to formal general meetings, the Chair should seek regular engagement with Members in order to understand their views 
on governance and performance against the strategy. Committee Chairs should seek engagement with members on significant 
matters related to their areas of responsibility. The Chair should ensure that the Board as a whole has a clear understanding of the 
views of Members. For example, setting up of Members’ panels, road shows for Members, surveys of Members’ opinions, Member 
communications managers, focus groups, Members’ magazines or newsletters, online forums with Members and engagement in local 

activities.

Board Committees

The Board has 5 main sub-committees as follows:-

The Credit Committee and Leadership Risk Committee are management committees reporting to the Risk Committee.

The Product Development Committee is a management committee reporting to the Assets & Liabilities Committee.

1. The Assets & Liabilities Committee convenes monthly and monitors and controls balance sheet risk, funding and liquidity in 
accordance with the Society’s policy. For the year to 31 August 2020 the Committee comprised 2 Non-Executive Directors and 2 
Executive Directors.

2. The Audit & Compliance Committee meets quarterly and reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the Society’s internal controls, 
including compliance with the requirements of both the Prudential Regulation Authority and the Financial Conduct Authority. It 
considers and recommends the appointment of the internal and external auditors and monitors their effectiveness and independence. 
For the year to 31 August 2020 the Committee comprised 3 Non-Executive Directors. 

3. The Remuneration Committee meets at least half yearly and independently reviews and recommends changes to the terms and 
conditions of employment of the Directors and Senior Managers (‘Leadership Team’). 4 Non-Executive Directors of the Society are 
members of the Remuneration Committee and members of the Executive team attend by invitation. (please refer to the Director’s 
Remuneration Report on page 18 for further information).

4. The Risk Committee meets quarterly.  3 Non-Executive Directors of the Society are members of the Risk Committee and members of 
the Executive team attend by invitation. Risk Committee ensures that risks are appropriately managed in accordance with policy and 
within the limits of the Board’s stated risk appetite and provides assurance that the Society is adhering to regulatory risk requirements 

by monitoring actions taken to resolve any risk control weaknesses or failings to the Society’s strategy, operations and performance. 
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Board and Committee Effectiveness

Conflict of Interest and Directors Independence

The Board is satisfied that its current and intended composition is appropriate for the proper direction of the Society's business 
activities. The Board considers that all its Non-Executive Directors are independent and carry out thier duties with complete objectivity.

The Board also considers that neither the Chair, nor any director, had a material conflict of interest to declare, which would impact the 
effective discharge of their responsibilities, during the year ended 31 Augsut 2020. The Board considers that all individual directors, 
have suffcient time to discharge their duties at the Society and they do not hold more than the prescribed number of directorships 
under Article 91 of the Capital Requirements Directive IV.  

Appointments to the Board

There is a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure for the appointment of new Directors, using professional external search and 
recruitment consultants when appropriate. 
The Nominations Committee makes appointments having considered the balance of skills, experience, availability and core 
competencies required, having regard for the benefits of diversity so as to offer a depth and breadth of insight, perspective and 
experience on the Board. New Directors receive formal introduction training and all Directors are encouraged to attend industry 
events, seminars and training courses to maintain an up to date knowledge of the industry and the regulatory framework within which 
the Society operates. All Directors must meet the test of fitness and propriety as laid down by the Regulators as ‘Approved Persons’ 
to fulfil their Controlled Functions as Directors. The Board acknowledges that best practice in UK Corporate Governance 2020 is 
continuously evolving and alignment to emerging standards should be expected for Hanley Economic.

Board Changes and Elections/Re-elections

The Society's rules require all Directors to submit themselves for election by the members at the first opportunity after their 
appointment and for re-election every three years. Where a Director has served six years or more, the Board has agreed that they 
should put themselves forward for annual re-election by the members. 

 

Board Committees continued

N.M. Jordan (Chairman)

R. I. Henley (from 1.1.2020)

A. S. Macdonald

V. Oak (to 31.12.2019)

L. Payne

M. E. Selby 

E. Whitfield (from 1.5.2020)

S. Woodings

R. M. Young 

Assets &
Liabilities

Audit & 
ComplianceBoard Remuneration Risk Nominations

( ) = number of meetings eligible to attend

9 (9)

5 (5)

8 (9)

4 (4)

8 (9)

9 (9)

3 (3)

8 (9)

9 (9)

4 (4)

2 (2)

0 (0)

2 (2)

0 (0)

0 (0)

1 (1)

3 (4)

0 (0)

0 (0)

0 (0)

11 (11)

0 (0)

10 (11)

11 (11)

0 (0)

0 (0)

11 (11)

0 (0)

0 (0)

4 (4)

0 (0)

0 (0)

0 (0)

1 (1)

1 (3)

4 (4)

4 (4)

3 (3)

0 (0)

1 (1)

0 (0)

0 (0)

0 (0)

2 (4)

0 (0)

2 (2)

1 (1)

2 (2)

1 (1)

2 (2)2 (2)

2 (2)

0 (0)

1 (2)

2 (2)

5. The Nominations Committee meets as required to consider Board appointments and to ensure that it comprises sufficient Directors 
who are fit and proper, independent and who can meet the collective and individual responsibilities of Board members. All Directors 
of the Society are members of the Nominations Committee. The Committee ensures that the Board remains ‘fit for purpose’ in terms 
of skills, knowledge, expertise and experience required at any given time.

Before any appointment is made by the Board, they evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge, experience, gender and diversity on 
the Board, and, in the light of this evaluation, prepare a description of the role and capabilities required for a particular appointment.  
In identifying suitable candidates the committee considers candidates from all ethnicities and backgrounds to create an inclusive 
workplace.  
Attendance at Board and Committee meetings for the year to 31 August 2020 has been recorded as follows : 



N. M. Jordan

Chairman

6 November 2020
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Board and Senior Managers diversity 

All Board appointments are based on merit against objective criteria, the skill and experience of the Board as a whole, with regards to 

the benefit of diversity. In 2020 the Nominations Committee will consider the Society approach with respect to measures to diversity 

including gender, age and ethnicity representation. 

Communications and member engagement

The Board encourages communications with its members through half-yearly customer forum meetings where the Executive Directors 

speak informally on the main business developments and members present have the opportunity to raise any questions. Senior 

Management may also attend by invitation.

The Society holds its Annual General Meeting (AGM) in December and details of the AGM are sent to all eligible voting members who 

are encouraged to attend and to use their vote or appoint a proxy to vote if they choose not to, or are unable to, attend the meeting.  

Voting results are published on the Society’s website. The Society acknowledges the forthcoming AGM is to be held virtually, as 

temporarily allowable under COVID-19 regulation. Further information can be found on the Notice of AGM document.

For the year to 31 August 2020 Andrew Macdonald was the Senior Independent Director available to members to address any concerns 

or issues they may wish to raise.  However, all Directors are happy to make themselves available to members for such purposes.

Culture

The Chairman promotes a culture of openness and debate and sets the direction of the Board, facilitating and encouraging effective 

contribution and challenge from Directors, and maintaining constructive relations between Non-Executive and Executive Directors. 

Evidence is contained within Board and Board Committee minutes which are approved by their respective committee members.

The Board continues to monitor culture using a range of strategic risk assessment measures and updates. The Society’s values help 

to promote our mutual culture, encouraging behaviours that are in the best interests of our Members. All members of staff receive 

regular information and examples of our values and how these should be central to the work and attitudes, it is also embedded within 

the annual appraisal process and development plans. 

Whistleblowing

The Society recognises that staff are usually the first to become aware of conduct or activities taking place within an organisation 

which constitutes misconduct or malpractice. The Society operates a Whistleblowing Policy approved by the board on annual basis.  

All staff members and stakeholders are encouraged of raise a concern without fear of retribution, victimisation or detriment to job 

prospects. Regular training is provided to all staff including how to raise concerns, both internally and externally and directly with 

regulators.  

Under the Senior Manager’s Regime Andrew Macdonald as a Senior Independent Director and the Chair of the Audit and Compliance 

Committee has been appointed as the Whistleblowing Champion, however all Non-Executive Directors are committed to being 

available for whistleblowing issues. 
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The Audit & Compliance Committee is an essential part of the Society’s governance framework to which the Board has delegated 

oversight of financial reporting, internal controls, internal audit and external audit. All of the current members of the Committee are 

independent Non-Executive Directors with extensive experiences of the financial services sector. The Chair of the Committee is a 

specialist in Treasury and Assets & Liabilities Risk Management. This report provides an overview of the Committee’s work and details 

of how it has discharged its responsibilities during the year.

The responsibilities of the Committee are in line with the provisions of the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) Guidance on Audit 

Committees. The main function of the Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, specifically the 

ongoing review, monitoring and assessment of:

•  The integrity of the financial statements, any formal announcements relating to financial performance and significant financial 

reporting judgements contained therein;

•  The effectiveness of the system of internal control processes;

•  The internal audit and external audit processes;

•  The appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditors and the periodic review of their performance and 

independence; and

•  The policy on the use of external auditors for non-audit work.

Following each Committee meeting, the minutes of the meeting are distributed to the Board, and the Committee Chairman provides 

an update to the Board on key matters discussed by the Committee.

The composition of the Committee is detailed on page 22. Tetailed on page 22. The Chief Executive, Finance Director and the Head of Risk attend the 

meeting by invitation. Representatives of PwC (internal auditor), and KPMG LLP, (external auditor), are also invited to each meeting. 

Each meeting commences with the Committee having a discussion with the external and internal auditor without management being 

present.

Key areas reviewed during 2020

The Committee met 4 times during the year and focused on the following matters:

1. Financial Reporting

The primary role of the Committee in relation to financial reporting is to review and assess with management and the external auditor 

the integrity and appropriateness of the annual financial statements concentrating on amongst other matters:

•   The quality and acceptability of accounting policies and practices;

•   The clarity of the disclosures and compliance with financial reporting standards and relevant financial and governance reporting 

requirements including advising the Board on whether the Annual Report and Accounts, when taken as a whole are fair, balanced 

and understandable and provide information sufficient for Members to assess the Society’s performance, business model and 

strategy; and

•   The material areas in which significant judgements have been applied.

The primary areas of judgement considered by the Committee in relation to the 2020 accounts were:

•  Loan loss provisions: Review of judgements used to determine timing of recognition and valuation of loan loss provisions in line with  

IAS 39, specifically HPI forecasts, disposal terms and anticipated rental income and fees;IAS 39, specifically HPI forecasts, disposal terms and anticipated rental income and fees;

•  Interest income recognition: Review of the design, implementation and effectiveness of controls around the calculation of interest 

income and charges, including the timing of applicable fees and commission recognition, and behavioural life under effective 

interest rate methodologies; and

•  Hedge accounting: Review of systems and processes used to calculate effectiveness of hedges and impact on the Income Statement 

and Statement of Financial Position under IAS 39, including appropriate yield curves and matching rules.er IAS 39, including appropriate yield curves and matching rules.

The impact on credit risk and subsequent capital resilience of the Society as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic was also considered.

The Committee considered whether the 2020 Annual Report and Accounts were fair, balanced and understandable. The Committee

did this by satisfying itself that there was a robust process of review and challenge to ensure balance and consistency.

The Audit & Compliance Committee fully discharged its responsibilities in relation to financial reporting of the Annual Report and 

Accounts 2020.
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2. Internal Audit

The Committee is responsible for monitoring internal audit activities and effectiveness and ensuring that sufficient resources are in 

place.

In order to provide the scalability and flexibility of specialist resources required within internal audit, the Society continues to 

outsource this role to PwC.

Key reviews were completed through their agreed work programme during the year including areas of internal control significance, 

(e.g. Collections & Recoveries Procedures, Cyber Security, Liquidity Contingency Plan, Treasury and GDPR.)

Internal audit findings and thematic issues identified were considered by the Committee, as well as management’s response and the 

tracking and completion of outstanding actions.

The Committee considers the guidance from the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors entitled ‘Effective Internal Audit in the 

Financial Services Sector’ when ensuring that the internal auditors and the Committee were fulfilling their obligations in a robust 

manner.

The Committee also approved the fee for the programme of internal audit work for the year having reviewed the scope of the work 

programme in detail.

PwC operate in accordance with an Internal Audit Charter. This Charter may be found on the Society’s website.

The Committee is satisfied PwC satisfy the required skills and resource to fulfill the role.

3. System of Internal Controls

The Board recognises the importance of sound systems of internal control in the achievement of its objectives and the safeguarding 

of Members’ and Society assets. Internal control also facilitates the effectiveness and efficiency of operations, helps to ensure the 

reliability of internal and external reporting and assists in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Society operates in a dynamic business environment and, as a result, the risks it faces are continually changing. The internal 

control framework has been designed to ensure thorough and regular evaluation of the nature and extent of risk and the Society’s 

ability to react accordingly. It is the role of management to implement the Board’s policies on risk and control. It is also recognised 

that all employees have responsibility for internal control as part of their accountability for achieving objectives. Staff training and 

induction is designed to ensure that they are clear on their accountabilities in this area and are competent to operate and monitor 

the internal control framework.

The internal audit function provided independent assurance to the Board on the effectiveness of the internal control framework 

through the Audit & Compliance Committee.

The Committee reviewed this aspect through regular reporting from management, the Society’s internal auditor and the external 

auditor. The main internal control matters which were reviewed by the Committee in 2020 were:

•  Conduct related issues;

•  Prudential related issues;

•  Internal audit plans;

•  The status of issues raised in control reports which were tracked closely. During the year, the volume and age profile of issues raised 

remained within appropriate parameters; and

•  Whistleblowing arrangements. The Committee reviews the use of the confidential reporting channels in the Society each year.

     Awareness of ‘whistleblowing’ arrangements is maintained in a number of ways including internal communications and training 

modules.

The information received and considered by the Committee provided reasonable assurance that during 2020, there were no material 

breaches of control or regulatory standards and that, overall, the Society maintained an adequate internal control framework that 

met the principles of the Code.
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The Committee considers the reappointment of the internal auditor, including rotation of the audit partner, each year and also 

assesses their independence on an ongoing basis. The internal auditor is required to rotate the auditor partner responsible for the 

Society’s audit at least every five years. 

4. External Audit

The effectiveness of the external audit process is dependent on appropriate audit risk identification and at the start of the audit cycle 

the Committee receives from KPMG LLP a detailed audit plan, identifying their assessment of the key risks. 

The Committee holds regular private meetings with the external auditor. This provides the opportunity for open dialogue and feedback 

from the Committee and the auditor without management being present. Matters typically discussed include the auditor’s assessment 

of financial reporting risks and management’s activity in relation to these risks, the transparency and openness of interactions with 

management, confirmation that there has been no restriction in scope placed on them by management and the independence of 

their audit.

The Committee approved the fees for audit services for 2020 after a review of the level and nature of the work to be performed and 

being satisfied that the fees were appropriate for the scope of the work required.

5. Audit & Compliance Committee Effectiveness

The Committee conducted a self-assessment review to monitor its effectiveness which concluded that the Committee had operated 

effectively and in accordance with its Terms of Reference. The Committee’s Terms of Reference were reviewed during the year and 

found to be fit for purpose.

Given the current political and economic uncertainty regarding Brexit and its subsequent impact, the Committee concluded that risk 

faced by the Society would be as a result of the wider impact on the UK economy. The Committee (and wider Board) are mindful of 

the potential impact of Brexit, particularly a hard Brexit, and are committed to monitoring relevant developments to the UK economy.

Furthermore, the Committee concluded that the long-term economic impact of COVID-19 remains a relative unknown, with the 

Society again subject to a perceived increase to risks as a result of movements in the UK economy and changes in government 

guidance. The Board and staff of the Society are committed to ongoing monitoring of the situation, from the perspective of business 

performance and stability but also remaining sympathetic and engaged with the customers affected. 

A. S. Macdonald

  Chair of the Audit & Compliance Committee

6 November 2020
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Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report, the Annual Business Statement, the Directors’ Report and the Annual 

Accounts

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, Annual Business Statement, Directors’ Report and the Annual Accounts 

in accordance with applicable law and regulations.  

The Building Societies Act 1986 (“the Act”) requires the Directors to prepare Group and Society annual accounts for each financial year.  

Under that law they have elected to prepare the Group and Society annual accounts in accordance with UK Accounting Standards and 

applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 

and Republic of Ireland.  

The Group and Society annual accounts are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the 

Society as at the end of the financial year and of the income and expenditure of the Group and of the Society for the financial year.  

In preparing each of the Group and Society annual accounts, the Directors are required to:  

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;  

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;  

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and  

explained in the annual accounts;  

• assess the Group and Society’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and 

• use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the Society or to cease operations, or 

have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

In addition to the annual accounts the Act requires the directors to prepare, for each financial year, an Annual Business Statement and 

a Directors’ Report, each containing prescribed information relating to the business of the Group.  

Directors’ responsibilities for accounting records and internal controls

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the group:  

• keeps proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Society, 

in accordance with the Act;  

• takes reasonable care to establish, maintain, document and review such systems and controls as are appropriate to its business in 

accordance with the rules made by the Financial Conduct Authority and Prudential Regulation Authority under the Financial Services 

and Markets Act 2000.  

The Directors are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual accounts 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are 

reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.  

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Society's 

website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of annual accounts may differ from legislation in other 

jurisdictions.

On behalf of the Board

N. M. Jordan

 Chairman

6 November 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members

1. Our opinion is unmodified

We have audited the Group and Society annual 
accounts of Hanley Economic Building Society for 
the year ended 31 August 2020 which comprise the 
Group and Society Income Statement and 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Group and 
Society Statement of Financial Position, Group and 

Interests, Group and Society Statement of Cash 
Flow, and the related notes, including the 
accounting policies in note 1. 

In our opinion the annual accounts:

give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Group and of the Society as at 31 August 
2020 and of the income and expenditure of the 
Group and of the Society for the year then 
ended; 

have been properly prepared in accordance with 
UK accounting standards, including FRS 102 
The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland; and

have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Building Societies Act 1986 
and regulations made under it.  

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with 

described below. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and 
appropriate basis for our opinion. Our audit opinion 
is consistent with our report to the audit 
committee. 

We were first appointed as auditor by the directors 
on 18 December 2017. The period of total 
uninterrupted engagement is for the 3 financial 
years ended 31 August 2020. We have fulfilled our 
ethical responsibilities under, and we remain 
independent of the Group in accordance with, UK 

ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard 
applicable to public interest entities. No non-audit 
services prohibited by that standard were provided.

Independent 
auditor’s report

to the members of Hanley Economic Building Society 

Overview

Materiality: 
Group annual 
accounts as a whole

£250k (2019:£280k)

0.87% (2019: 1.00%) of 
Group net assets

Coverage 100% (2019: 100%) of Group 
net assets

Key audit matters vs 2019

Event driven New: Going concern

Recurring risks Loan impairment-
individual provision

Draft report that is subject to change following 
completion of audit procedures
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2. Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the annual 
accounts and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by
us, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and 
directing the efforts of the engagement team. We summarise below the key audit matters, in arriving at our audit opinion 
above, together with our key audit procedures to address those matters and, as required for public interest entities, our results 
from those procedures. These matters were addressed, and our results are based on procedures undertaken, in the context of, 
and solely for the purpose of, our audit of the annual accounts as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
consequently are incidental to that opinion, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

The risk Our response

Going concern

Report) and page [39] (accounting 
policies)

Disclosure quality:

The annual accounts explain how the 
Directors have formed a judgement that 
it is appropriate to adopt the going 
concern basis of preparation for the 
Group and the Society.

That judgement is based on an 
evaluation of the inherent risks to the 

model and how those risks might affect 

resources or ability to continue 
operations over a period of at least a 
year from the date of approval of the 
annual accounts.

resources over this period is an increase 
in the level of provision for loan losses.

leading to insufficient regulatory capital 
to meet minimum regulatory capital 
levels over the course of the next 12 
months. There are also less predictable 
but realistic impacts, such as the impact 
of COVID-19 on liquidity and operational 
resilience.

The risk for our audit is whether or not 
those risks are such that they amounted 
to a material uncertainty that may cast 

concern. Should this be the case then 
that fact would be required to be 
disclosed.

Our procedures included:

Our sector experience: We considered the 
-19 related 

businesses and financial resources 
compared with our own understanding of 

to take action to mitigate the risks.

Challenge of assumptions: We assessed 

liquidity models to identify key assumptions. 
We challenged the reasonableness of 

Sensitivity analysis: We assessed the 
stressed scenarios used by the Group and 
Society in forecasting profitability, capital 
and liquidity and the viability of possible 
management actions.

Assessing transparency: We critically 
assessed the completeness and accuracy of 
the matters covered in the going concern 
disclosure within the annual accounts using 
our knowledge of the relevant facts and 
circumstances developed during our audit 
work, considering the economic outlook, 
key areas of estimation uncertainty, 
including in particular the level of 
impairment of loans and advances to 
customers, and mitigating actions available 
to the Society to respond to these risks.

Our results

We found the going concern disclosure without 
any material uncertainty to be acceptable.
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2. Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement (continued.)

We continue to perform procedures over the impact of uncertainties due to the UK exiting the European Union on our audit and 
on the collective impairment provision. However, we have not assessed either of these as one of the most significant risks in 
our current year audit and, therefore, they are not separately identified in our report this year.

The risk Our response

Loan impairment - individual 
provision

Group: £4.7m; 2019: £5.1m
Society: £4.7m; 2019: £5.1m

Refer to pages [41-42] (accounting 
policy) and page [47] (financial 
disclosures).

Subjective estimate:

Individual impairment provisions cover 
loans specifically identified as impaired. 
The directors judge individual 
impairments by reference to loans that 
are subject to forbearance activities, in 
possession, with loan to value (LTV) 
greater than 100%, or LTV greater than 
75% with one month or more in arrears. 

The Group is currently engaged in 
disposing of a portfolio of properties in 
possession under a managed disposal 
plan. The estimate of loss on a loan is 
calculated by use of models to discount 
the future cash flows expected to be 
received on the loans. Given the 
subjectivity inherent in estimating the 
recoverability of loan balances on a 
forward-looking basis, the assessment 
of impairment is highly judgemental. 

The key assumptions which the 
calculation is impacted by are:

The value of the underlying collateral 
at the time of planned disposal. This 
is estimated by applying a forecasted 

discount and selling costs to the 
most recent independent valuations.

The exit strategy of the Group which 
determines the dates at which the 
proceeds from the loans will be 
realised.

The effect of these matters is that, as 
part of our risk assessment, we 
determined that individual impairment 
has a high degree of estimation 
uncertainty, with a potential range of 
reasonable outcomes greater than our 
materiality for the annual accounts as a 
whole.

Our procedures included: 

Historical comparison: We assessed the 
key assumptions used in the individual 
model, including forced sale discount and 

experience.

Valuations expertise: We engaged real 
estate specialists to critically assess the 
collateral value for a sample of loans using 
market research and sector knowledge.

Our economic scenario expertise: We 
involved our own economic specialists to 
assist us in assessing the appropriateness 
of the HPI forecasts applied in the individual 
impairment model by comparing the 

forecasts.

We 
performed procedures to critically assess 

managed disposal plans to support the 
forecast scenarios in the individual 
impairment assessment.

Assessing transparency: We assessed the 

the degree of estimation involved in arriving 
at the provision.

Our results

We found the resulting estimate of the 
individual impairment provision to be acceptable 
(2019: acceptable).
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3. Our application of materiality and an overview 
of the scope of our audit

Materiality for the Group annual accounts as a 
whole was set at £250k (2019: £280k), determined 
with reference to a benchmark of net assets (of 
which it represents 0.87% (2019: 1.00%)).

Materiality for the Society annual accounts as a 
whole was set at £240k (2019: £279k), determined 
with reference to a benchmark of net assets (of 
which it represents 0.87% (2019: 1.03%)).

We agreed to report to the Audit Committee any 
corrected or uncorrected identified misstatements 
exceeding £12.5k, in addition to other identified 
misstatements that warranted reporting on 
qualitative grounds.
We subjected all Group entities to full scope audits 
therefore accounting for a scope in line with the 
percentages illustrated opposite.

£250k
Whole annual accounts 
materiality
(2019: £280k)

£12.5k
Misstatements reported to the 
audit committee (2019: 
£13.95k)

Group net assets
£28.8m (2019: £28.1m)

Group Materiality
£250k (2019: £280k)

Group net assets
Group materiality

100

100

100

100

Group profit before tax

100%
(2019: 100%) (2019: 100%)

Group revenue

Group total assets 

100

100

100%
(2019: 100%)

Key: Full scope for Group audit purposes 2020

Full scope for Group audit purposes 2019

100%
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4. We have nothing to report on going concern

The Directors have prepared the financial statements on the 
going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the 
Society or the Group or to cease their operations, and as 

financial position means that this is realistic. They have also 
concluded that there are no material uncertainties that 
could have cast significant doubt over their ability to 
continue as a going concern for at least a year from the 

Our responsibility is to conclude on the appropriateness of 

uncertainty related to going concern, to make reference to 
that in this audit report. However, as we cannot predict all 
future events or conditions and as subsequent events may 
result in outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements 
that were reasonable at the time they were made, the 
absence of reference to a material uncertainty in this 
auditor's report is not a guarantee that the Group or the 
Society will continue in operation.  

We identified going concern as a key audit matter (see 
section 2 of this report). Based on the work described in our 
response to that key audit matter, we are required to report 
to you if we have concluded that the use of the going 
concern basis of accounting is inappropriate or there is an 
undisclosed material uncertainty that may cast significant 
doubt over the use of that basis for a period of at least a 
year from the date of approval of the financial statements.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

5. We have nothing to report on the other information in 
the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information 
presented in the Annual Report together with the financial 
statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does 
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not 
express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated 
below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether, based on our annual financial 
statements audit work, the information therein is materially 
misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work we have 
not identified material misstatements in the other 
information. 

In our opinion:

Report have each been prepared in accordance with the 
applicable requirements of the Building Societies Act 
1986 and regulations thereunder; 

financial year is consistent with the accounting records 
and the annual accounts; and 

the information given in the Annual Business Statement 
(other than the information upon which we are not 
required to report) gives a true representation of the 
matters in respect of which it is given. 

6. We have nothing to report on the other matters on 
which we are required to report by exception 

Under the Building Societies Act 1986 we are required to 
report to you if, in our opinion: 

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
Society; or

the annual accounts are not in agreement with the 
accounting records; or

we have not received all the information and 
explanations and access to documents we require for 
our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects. 

7. Respective responsibilities 

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 
[27], the directors are responsible for: the preparation of 
annual accounts which give a true and fair view; such 
internal control as they determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern; and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group 
or the Society or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or other 
irregularities (see below), or error, and to issue our opinion 

of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can 
arise from fraud, other irregularities or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the annual 
accounts.  

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.  

Irregularities ability to detect

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could 
reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the 
financial statements from our general commercial and 
sector experience, through discussion with the directors 
and other management (as required by auditing standards), 

correspondence and discussed with the directors and other 
management the policies and procedures regarding 
compliance with laws and regulations.  We communicated 
identified laws and regulations throughout our team and 
remained alert to any indications of non-compliance  
throughout the audit.  

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the 
financial statements varies considerably.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members continued

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that 
directly affect the financial statements including financial 
reporting legislation (including related building society 
legislation), and taxation and we assessed the extent of 
compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our 
procedures on the related financial statement items.  

Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and 
regulations where the consequences of non-compliance 
could have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in 
the financial statements, for instance through the 

licence to operate.  We identified the following areas as 
those most likely to have such an effect: regulatory capital 
and liquidity and certain aspects of building society 
legislation recognising the financial and regulated nature of 

limit the required audit procedures to identify non-
compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of 
the directors and other management and inspection of 
regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Through these 
procedures, we became aware of actual or suspected non-
compliance and considered the effect as part of our 
procedures on the related financial statement items. The 
identified actual or suspected non-compliance was not 
sufficiently significant to our audit to result in our response 
being identified as a key audit matter.

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an 
unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some 
material misstatements in the financial statements, even 
though we have properly planned and performed our audit 
in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the 
further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations 
(irregularities) is from the events and transactions reflected 
in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently 
limited procedures required by auditing standards would 
identify it.  In addition, as with any audit, there remained a 
higher risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. We 
are not responsible for preventing non-compliance and 
cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws 
and regulations.

8. The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe 
our responsibilities 

body, in accordance with section 78 of the Building 
Societies Act 1986. Our audit work has been undertaken so 

report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Society and the 

report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Alain de Braekeleer (Senior Statutory Auditor) 

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 

Chartered Accountants 

1 Sovereign Square

Sovereign Street

Leeds

LS1 4DA

[23 October 2020] 
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Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income

The notes on pages 39 to 70 form part of these accounts.The notes on pages 39 to 70 form part of these accounts.

The above results are all derived from continuing operations. The profit for the financial year is attributable to the Members of the 

Society. 

For the year ended 31 August 2020

Group 

2020

Group 

2019

Society 

2020

Society 

2019

Notes £000 £000 £000 £000

Interest receivable and similar income 2  9,626  9,731  9,626  9,731 

Interest payable and similar charges 3 (3,561) (3,744) (3,561) (3,744)

 6,065  5,987  6,065  5,987 

Fees and commissions receivable 4 341  315  153  158 

Fees and commissions payable 5 (119) (136) (105) (124)

Net gains / (losses) from derivative financial instruments 6 (128) (114) (128) (114)

Total net income  6,159  6,052  5,985  5,907 

Administrative expenses 7 (5,248) (4,903) (5,073) (4,755)

Depreciation and amortisation 17/18 (174) (133) (174) (133)

Other operating charges (46) (9) (46) (9)

Operating profit before impairment losses and provisions  691  1,007  692  1,010 

Impairment gains on loans and advances 9 142 (154) 142 (154)

Provision for contingent liabilities and commitments - FSCS levy  -  2  -  2 

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 833  855  834  858 

Tax on profit on ordinary activities 10 (96) (155) (96) (155)

Profit for the financial year 26  737  700  738  703 

Group

2020

Group

2019

Society

2020

Society

2019

Notes £000 £000 £000 £000

Profit for the financial year 737 700 738  703 

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to the Income Statement

Available for Sale Reserve 27 22 16 22 16

Tax on items that may be reclassified to the Income Statement 27 (1) (1)

Other Comprehensive Income for the year net of tax 22 15 22 15

Total Comprehensive Income for the financial year 759  715 760  718 

The notes on pages 39 to 70 form an intergral part of these financial statements.The notes on pages 39 to 70 form an intergral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position

The notes on pages 39 to 70 form an intergral part of these financial statements.The notes on pages 39 to 70 form an intergral part of these financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors

on 6 November 2020

N. M. Jordan                   M. E. Selby                               L. PayneN. M. Jordan                   M. E. Selby                               L. Payne
Chairman   Chief Executive & Group Secretary                     Finance DirectorChairman   Chief Executive & Group Secretary                     Finance Director

As as 31st August 2020

Group

2020

Group

2019

Society

2020

Society

2019

ASSETS Notes £000 £000 £000 £000

Liquid Assets   

Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England 11 57,961 59,402 57,961 59,402

Loan and advances to credit institutions 12 4,442 6,551 4,228 6,085

Debt securities 13 24,036 21,075 24,036 21,075

86,439 87,028 86,225 86,562

Derivative Financial Instruments 14 8 3 8 3

Loans and advances to customers 9/15 375,253 355,974 375,253 355,974 

Investments in subsidiary undertakings 16 - - - -

Tangible Fixed Assets 17 2,702 2,580 2,702  2,580 

Intangible Fixed Assets 18 352 65 352  65 

Other assets - taxation 25 616 713 616  713 

Prepayments and accrued income 19 232 611 232  611 

Total assets 465,602 446,974 465,388 446,508 

LIABILITIES

Shares 20 395,019 375,086 395,019 375,086

Amounts owed to credit institutions 21 17,253 16,020 17,253 16,020

Amounts owed to other customers 22 22,424 26,098 22,424 26,098

Derivative financial instruments 14 1,363 736 1,363 736

Other Liabilities 23 - - 782 531

Accruals and deferred income 24 728 978 728 978

Total liabilities 436,787 418,918 437,569 419,449

Reserves

General Reserves 26 28,800 28,063 27,804 27,066

Available for sale reserves 26 15 (7) 15 (7)

Total Reserves attribute to members of the society 28,815 28,056 27,819 27,059

Total liabilities and reserves 465,602 446,974 465,388 446,508
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Statement of Changes in Members’ Interests

For the year ended 31 August 2020

Notes General Reserve Available 

for Sale 

Reserve

Total

£000 £000 £000

GROUP

At 1 September 2018 27,363 (22) 27,341

Profit for the year 700 - 700

Net losses from changes in financial assets - 15 15

At 31 August 2019 26/27  28,063 (7)  28,056 

Profit for the year 737  -    737 

Net losses from changes in financial assets  -   22 22

At 31 August 2020 26/27  28,800 15  28,815 

SOCIETY

At 1 September 2018  26,363 (22)  26,341 

Profit for the year  703  -    703 

Net losses from changes in financial assets  -   15 15

At 31 August 2019 26/27  27,066 (7)  27,059 

Profit for the year  738  -    738 

Net losses from changes in financial assets  -   22 22

At 31 August 2020 26/27  27,804 15  27,819 

The notes on pages 39 to 70 form an intergral part of these financial statements.The notes on pages 39 to 70 form an intergral part of these financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 August 2020

Group Group Society Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

£000 £000 £000 £000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 833 855 834 858

Depreciation and amortisation of fixed assets 174 133 174 133

Decrease in fair value of derivative financial instruments and hedged items 128 114 128 114

(Increase)/ Decrease in effective interest rate adjustment (466) 34 (466) 34

Decrease in impairment on loans and advances to customers (142) (456) (142) (456)

Net losses on disposal and amortisation of debt securities 54 36 54 36

Total cashflow from operating activities 581 716 582 719

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

(Increase) in loans and advances to customers (18,176) (27,255) (18,176) (27,255)

Increase/ (decrease) in accruals and deferred income (250) 296 (250) 296

Decrease in prepayments and accrued income 379 186 379 186

Increase / (decrease) in amounts owed to credit institutions 1,233 (12,517) 1,233 (12,517)

Increase / (decrease) in amounts owed to other customers (3,674) (38) (3,674) (38)

Decrease in loans and advances to credit institutions 1,003 499 1,003 499

(Decrease) / increase in other liabilities  -    -   251 (121)

Increase in shares 19,933 31,608 19,933 31,608

(Decrease) in FSCS Provision  -   (14)  -   (14)

Taxation paid  -   (162)  -   (162)

Net cash inflow/ (outflow) from operating activities 1,029 (6,681) 1,281 (6,799)

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets  -   6  -   6

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (256) (78) (256) (78)

Purchase of intangible fixed assets (327) (14) (327) (14)

Purchase of investment securities (42,469) (42,476) (42,469) (42,476)

Maturities and disposal of investment securities 39,476 50,981 39,476 50,981

Net cash used in investing activities (3,576) 8,419 (3,576) 8,419

Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,547) 1,738 (2,295) 1,620

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 September 64,950 63,212 64,484 62,864

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 August 62,403 64,950 62,189 64,484

Net cash generated from operating activites (2,547) 1,738 (2,295) 1,620

The notes on pages 39 to 70 form an intergral part of these financial statements.The notes on pages 39 to 70 form an intergral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Accounts

1.         Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

Basis of preparation
The Annual Accounts have been prepared in compliance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS102), IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (IAS39), the Building Societies Act 1986 and the Building Societies (Accounts and 
Related Provisions) Regulations 1998 (as amended).

Going Concern

The Society prepares detailed forecasts (‘Corporate Plan’) for the three years following the year ended in these financial 
statements. The forecasts reflect the uncertain economic environment, specifically with reference to COVID-19 and Brexit. 
Furthermore, the Society models the impact of severe but plausible scenarios on capital and liquidity through robust stress 
testing and analysis of changes on key sensitivities. The Board is satisfied that based on empirical evidence, and current 
market data, the severe but plausible stress scenarios are in fact more severe than that previously or currently experienced 
by the Society, particularly in reference to COVID-19 and/or Brexit and the financial crisis of 2007/2008.

These severe but plausible stresses are established and defined in detail during the annual Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process (ICAAP) and Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP), in line with PRA requirements. 
Considerations are given to a range of factors, including but not limited to HPI fluctuations, changes in customer propensity 
of default, unemployment, interest rate changes and circumstances that may give rise to funding outflows either on an 
idiosyncratic level or sector wide.

The Society maintains a surplus over regulatory limits for both capital and liquidity throughout the stresses. The Board, 
therefore, are satisfied that the Society has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for a period of at least 12 
months from the date of approval of these financial statements. Accordingly they continue to adopt the going concern basis 
in preparing the financial statements.

Basis of accounting
The Annual Accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention with the exception 
of the  following:
•   Available for sale assets are held at fair value;
•   Derivatives are held at fair value, and underlying hedged items are held at fair value, with respect to interest rate risk.

The financial statements are presented in Sterling (£). There are no foreign currency transactions.

Basis of consolidation
The Group accounts consolidate the accounts of the Society and all its subsidiary undertakings, and exclude any profits or 
losses on intra Group transactions. These accounts are made up to 31 August 2020. Unless otherwise stated, the acquisition 
method of accounting has been adopted. In the Society’s accounts, investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at the 
lower of cost and recoverable amount. Uniform accounting policies are applied throughout the Group.

Exemptions
The Group has taken exemption as provided in Section 33.1A of FRS102 and does not disclose transactions with Members of 
the same group that are wholly owned.

Investments in subsidiary undertakings
Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less any provision for impairment.

Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense in respect of all financial assets is credited to the Income Statement as it becomes receivable, 
with an additional calculation on interest of incentivised products and certain fees and costs that are recognised on an 
effective interest rate basis. These include cashback, application fees, valuation fees, broker fees and higher lending fees. The 
effect of the policy is to spread the impact of relevant costs and fees directly attributable and incremental to setting up the 
loan, over the effective life of the mortgage, which broadly equates to the incentive period of the mortgage.

Interest payable on shares and amounts owed to credit institutions and other customers is accrued on a daily interest basis.
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Notes to the Accounts continued

Fees and commissions
Fees payable and receivable other than relating to mortgage loans (which are recognised in accordance with effective interest 
rate), including sales commission, are recognised when the relevant service is provided.

Financial assets
The Group and Society have chosen to adopt the recognition and measurement provisions of IAS39, and disclosure 
requirements of section 11 and 12 of FRS102 in respect of Financial Instruments.

a) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are predominantly mortgage loans to customers and money market advances held for liquidity 
purposes. They are recorded at amortised cost, including any effective interest rate adjustment, less any impairment losses 
other than where an adjustment is made as part of a fair value hedging arrangement.

b) Financial assets at fair value through the Income Statement
The Group uses derivatives only for interest rate risk management purposes. It does not use derivatives for trading purposes. 
A fair value hedge is used to hedge exposures to variability in the fair value of financial assets and liabilities, such as fixed rate 
mortgages.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into, and are subsequently 
re-measured at their fair value. Fair values of derivative financial instruments are calculated by discounted cash flow models 
using yield curves that are based on observable market data. All derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value is 
positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised immediately 
in the Income Statement together with changes in the fair value of the hedged item that are attributable to the hedged risk 
within net gain/(losses) from derivative financial instruments.

All derivatives entered into by the Group are for the purposes of providing an economic hedge. Hedge accounting is an 
optional treatment but the specific rules and conditions in IAS39 have to be complied with before it can be applied. When 
transactions meet the criteria specified in IAS39, the Group applies fair value hedge accounting so that changes in the fair 
value of the underlying asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk are recorded in the Income Statement to 
offset the fair value movement of the related derivative. The Group has classified all of its derivatives as fair value hedges. 
To qualify for hedge accounting at inception the hedge relationship must be clearly documented.  At inception the derivative 
must be expected to be highly effective in offsetting the hedged risk, and effectiveness must be tested throughout the life of 
the hedge relationship.

If the hedging derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or the hedge no longer meets the criteria for fair value 
hedge accounting, or the hedge designation is revoked, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. If the underlying 
instrument is sold or repaid, the unamortised fair value adjustment is immediately recognised in the Income Statement and 
therefore as a consequence within the Statement of Changes in Members’ Interests. A summary of the effects of hedging and 
the associated fair value adjustments can be found in Notes 14 and 30.

c) Available for sale assets – debt securities
Available for sale assets are non-derivative assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time. They may 
be sold in response to needs for changes in liquidity or changes in interest rates. The Group’s debt securities are classified 
as available-for-sale assets. The Group measures debt securities at fair value, with subsequent changes in fair value being 
recognised through the Statement of Comprehensive Income and presented in the available for sale reserve within equity, 
except for impairment losses which are recognised in the Income Statement. When the asset is sold, the change in fair value 
accumulated in the equity is released to the Income Statement.

Further information regarding how fair values are determined can be found in Note 30 to the accounts. Upon sale or maturity 
of the asset, the cumulative gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income are removed from available-for-sale 
reserves and recycled to the Income Statement.

d) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amounts presented in the financial statements when there is a legally 

1.          Accounting policies (continued)
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Notes to the Accounts continued

enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net  basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. No such assets or liabilities are offset in the Statement of Financial Position.

e) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, and are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the Society 
becomes a party to the contractual provision of the instrument. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the liability is 
extinguished which is when the contractual obligation is discharged or expires.

Taxation
Current tax is the amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the year or prior years. Tax is calculated on 
the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end.
The Finance Team periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be 
paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax is recognised providing for temporary differences between the carrying amount of certain assets and liabilities 
for accounting purposes and for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is provided using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the Statement of Financial Position date, depending on the date at which they are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets 
are only recognised where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which temporary differences can 
be utilised.

Deferred tax has been recognised in respect of all timing differences at the reporting date, with the exception of the following:
•   Difference relating to investments in subsidiaries, to the extent that the parent is able to control reversal of the timing 

differences and it is probable they will not reverse in the foreseeable future;
•   Permanent differences, other than those arising on business combinations.

FRS102 prohibits discounting of deferred tax.

Tangible fixed assets 
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Where parts of an item of tangible fixed assets have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of tangible fixed assets, for example land is treated separately 
from buildings.

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether any tangible fixed assets are impaired.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost, less the estimated residual value, of tangible fixed assets over their estimated 
useful economic lives as follows:

•   Freehold buildings and leasehold properties (long)  –  50 years on a straight line basis
•   Leasehold land and leasehold properties (short)  – Life of lease on a straight line basis
•   Equipment, fixtures and fittings   – 5 to 10 years on a straight line basis
•   Vehicles      – 25% on the reducing balance

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed if there is an indication of a significant change since the 
last annual reporting date in the pattern by which the Group expects to consume an asset’s future economic benefit.

Intangible assets
The costs of computer software acquired where the Group will derive future economic benefit are capitalised at the acquisition 
date.  Amortisation is charged to the Income Statement on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives. Computer 
software is amortised from the date it is available for use. The estimated useful lives are within a range of 1 to 10 years based 
on historical experience.

The Group reviews the amortisation period and method when events and circumstances indicate that the useful life may have 
changed since the last reporting date. 

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flow, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than 3 months to 

1.          Accounting policies (continued)
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maturity at the Statement of Financial Position date, including cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England and loans 
and advances to credit institutions.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. Where the substance of the dividend is a 
return of capital, that element of the dividend is offset against the carrying value of the investment. In all other cases, dividend 
income is taken to the Income Statement.

Leases
Operating lease rentals are charged to the Income Statement account on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.  The 
Group has no finance lease agreements.

Impairment of loans and advances to customers and forbearance 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that financial assets not carried at fair value 
through the Income Statement are impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is ‘impaired’ when objective 
evidence demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset(s) and that the loss event has 
an impact on the future cashflows of the asset(s) that can be estimated reliably.
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes:

•   Significant financial difficulty of the borrower;
•   Default or delinquency by a borrower;
•   The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;
•   Indications that a borrower will enter bankruptcy;
•   The disappearance of an active market for a security; or
•  Observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group, or 

economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the group.
The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and advances at both a specific asset and a collective level. All 
individually significant loans and advances are assessed for specific impairment. The Group considered specific impairments 
to be those which are subject to forbearance, in possession, with a loan to value greater than 100% or one month or more in 
arrears. Those found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred 
but not yet identified. Loans and advances that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by 
grouping together loans and advances with similar risk characteristics.

In assessing collective impairment, the Group uses statistical modelling of historical trends such as forced sale discounts, 
house price movements, the timing of expected recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, and makes an adjustment if 
current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or lesser than is suggested by 
historical trends.

Impairment losses on assets measured at amortised cost are calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cashflows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. A range of forbearance 
options are available to support customers who are in financial difficulty. The purpose of forbearance is to support customers 
who have temporary financial difficulties and help them get back on track. The main options offered by the Group include:

•    Temporary transfer to an interest only mortgage;

•    Reduced monthly payment;

•    Product review;

•    Capitalisation of arrears; and

•    Extension of mortgage term.

Customers requesting a forbearance option are required to provide information to support the request which is likely to 
include a budget planner, statement of assets and liabilities, bank/credit card statements and payslips, in order that the 
request can be properly assessed. If the forbearance request is granted the account is monitored in accordance with the 
Society’s policy and procedures.  At the appropriate time the forbearance option that has been implemented is cancelled, with 
the exception of capitalisation of arrears, and the customer’s normal contractual payment is restored.

1.          Accounting policies (continued)

Notes to the Accounts continued
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Impairment losses are recognised in the Income Statement and reflected in an allowance account against loans and advances 
to customers. Interest on the impaired assets continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount at the original 
effective interest rate. If an event occurring after the impairment was recognised causes the amount of impairment loss to 
decrease, then the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through the Income Statement.
Impairment losses on debt securities
At each Statement of Financial Position date the Group assesses whether or not there is objective evidence that individual 
debt instruments are impaired. In determining whether there is any objective evidence of impairment the Group takes into 
account a number of factors including:

•   Significant financial difficulties of the issuer or obligor;
•   Any breach of contract or covenants;
•   The granting of any concession or rearrangement of terms;
•   The disappearance of an active market;
•   Any significant downgrade of ratings of the issuer or obligor; and
•   Any significant reduction in market value of the instrument.

In some cases a significant adverse change in one of the above factors will cause the Group to determine that there is objective 
evidence of impairment. In other cases it may not be possible to identify a single event that identifies impairment. The Group 
may additionally determine that there is impairment where there are a number of factors contributing to that view.

Where the Group determines that there is objective evidence of impairment or that trigger events exist at the Statement of 
Financial Position date, then, in the case of available for sale instruments, the cumulative loss that had been recognised directly 
in reserves is removed from reserves and recognised in the Income Statement. In the case of held to maturity instruments an 
appropriate charge is made to the Income Statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for sale increases and the increase can be 
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised through the Income Statement, the impairment loss 
is reversed, with  the amount of the reversal recognised through the Income Statement.

Pension costs
The Group contributes to personal pension plans of its staff. The Group’s contributions are charged against profits in the year 
to which they relate. The charge to the Income Statement for the year is shown in Note 7 to the accounts.

Incentive schemes

The Society offers Executive Directors and Senior Team members a medium term incentive plan, with the awards of the 
scheme payable over 3 years. Schemes may run concurrently, with the associated accounting treatment considering each 
award with different service periods charges against profits in the period to which they relate should a member exit the 
Society's employment, future payments are immediaitely forfeited. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
As a part of the preparation of the Annual Report and Accounts the Group makes estimates and judgements that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on many factors 
including historical experience and expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

These estimates and judgements are described below:

a) Impairment losses and advances
The Group reviews its mortgage portfolio to assess the adequacy of its impairment provisions at least on a quarterly basis. In 
undertaking this review, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before such decrease in an individual loan 
can be identified. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment 
status or borrower’s local economic conditions, including forbearance measures such as a transfer to interest only payment 
and term extensions that correlate with defaults on assets in the Group.

The Group also assesses the loss on loans and advances as a result of expected movements in house prices and the forced sale 

1.          Accounting policies (continued)

Notes to the Accounts continued
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discount on properties in possession as well as the likely time taken to recover a loan through the sale of collateral. The methodology 
and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to minimise any 
differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

The expected date of disposal of the individually impaired mortgage asset is an important assumption in determining the level of 
impairment provision. If the date of disposal was within 1 year of the Statement of Financial Position date, it would result in the 
impairment provision being increased from £4.7m to £6.9m. Alternatively an assumed 15 year disposal plan would result in the 
impairment provision being reduced from £4.7m to £2.7m.

Forecast movements in house price indices is a second important assumption in determining the level of impairment provision 
required. Currently the impairment provisioning models include HPI assumptions drawn from a variety of external sources. Assuming 
no rise in HPI in the next 5 years, would result in the impairment provisioning being increased from £4.7m to £5.1m. Conversely 
assuming annual growth in HPI of 5% over the next 5 years would result in the impairment provisioning model being decreased from 
£4.7m to £4.1m.

b) Effective Interest Rate ('EIR')

FRS102 requires that all of the cash flows directly associated with financial instruments must be recognised in the Income Statement 

using the effective interest rate method. When this approach is applied to a mortgage portfolio, judgements must be made to 

estimate the average life of each mortgage where a product fee is attached. These judgements are applied taking into account factors 

including the terms of the particular products, historic repayment data and economic conditions. These estimates are updated in each 

reporting period to reflect the portfolio’s actual performance.

c) Hedge Accounting and the fair values of derivatives
As a risk management tool the Society uses interest rate derivatives as a hedging instrument against mortgage exposures in accordance 
with IAS 39. Qualifying hedging relationships are assessed on an ongoing basis, with the relationship required to be within 80-125% 
effective to qualify. If effective the changes in fair value of mortgage asset are offset by the changes in value of the derivative. This 
process is formally documented.

d) Fair values of derivatives and financial assets
The Group employs the following techniques in determining the fair value of its derivatives and financial assets:
•   Available for sale – measured at fair value using market prices. The Group holds a portfolio of high quality liquid assets and 

certificates of deposit in its management of liquidity risk; and
•    Derivative financial instruments – calculated by discounted cash flow models using yield curves that are based on observable 

market data. These assets are held by the Group in its management of interest rate risk.

1.           Accounting policies (continued)

Included within interest income is £351k  (2019: £494k) in respect of interest income accrued on impaired loans.

Group Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

2. Interest receivable and similar income £000 £000 £000 £000

On loans fully secured on residential property 9,075 8,764 9,075 8,764

On other loans 396 320 396 320

On debt securities- interest and other income 192 248 192 248

On other liquid assets- interest and other income 270 476 270 476

Net interest expense on derivative financial instruments (307) (77) (307) (77)

 9,626  9,731  9,626  9,731 
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The net losses from derivative financial instruments represents the net fair value movement on derivative instruments that are 

matching risk exposure on an economic basis. Some accounting volatility arises on these items due to accounting ineffectiveness 

on designated hedges, or because hedge accounting is not achievable on certain items. The movement is primarily due to timing 

differences in income recognition between derivative instruments and the hedged assets. This gain or loss will tend to zero over time 

and this is taken into account by the Board when considering the Group’s underlying performance.    

Group Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

5. Fees and commission payable £000 £000 £000 £000

Bank charges  92  101  92  101 

Other fees payable  27  35  13  23 

 119  136  105  124 

Group Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

6. Net gains / (losses) from derivative financial instruments £000 £000 £000 £000

Derivatives in designated fair value hedge relationships (613) (905) (613) (905)

Adjustments to hedging items in fair value hedge accounting relationships 494 793 494 793

Derivatives not in designated fair value hedge relationships (9) (2) (9) (2)

(128) (114) (128) (114)

Group Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

4. Fees and commissions receivable £000 £000 £000 £000

Insurance commissions 51 64 51 64

Fees receivable 94 85 94 85

Rentals and sundry income 8 9 8 9

Subsidiary fee income 188 157  -  - 

 341  315  153  158 

Group Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

3. Interest payable and similar charges £000 £000 £000 £000

On shares held by individuals 3,184 3,194 3,184 3,194

On deposits and other borrowings 377 550 377 550

 3,561  3,744  3,561  3,744  
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* Remuneration of the auditors disclosed above excludes VAT. The fee of £100,000 is in respect of 2020 services and includes £3,000 

which relates to the audit of the subsidiary financial statements (2019: £3,000).    

8. Directors’ and Key Managers’ Remuneration

Total remuneration of the Society's Directors for the year was £580,000 (2019: £434,000). Full details are given in the Directors' 

Remuneration Report on page 18. Remuneration of key management personnel, who are not Executive Directors, for the year was 

£315,000 (2019: £424,000). Remuneration for the Executive Directors and key management personnel includes payment relating to 

incentive schemes where applicable. The Society does not contribute to Non-Executive Directors' pensions. 

Directors’ loans and transactions

(a) As at 31 August 2020 there was 1 (2019: 2) outstanding mortgage loans granted in the ordinary course of business to Directors and 

connected persons, amounting in aggregate to £627,027 (2019: £979,439646,580). As at 31 August 2020 a total of £27,773 (2019: 

£11,610) was held in Society savings by the Directors.

(b) During the year there were no services provided to the Society by any connected business of a serving director. At 31 August 2020, 

there were no amounts outstanding to any connected businesses (2019: £nil).

 There were no significant contracts with the Society subsisting during or at the end of the financial year in which a director of the 

Society (or a person connected with a director of the Society) is, or was, interested.

Group Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

7. Administrative expenses and staff numbers £000 £000 £000 £000

Administrative expenses

Directors’ emoluments:

(i) Fees  163  147  163  147 

(ii) For executive services  417  287  417  287 

Remuneration and expenses of staff:

(i) Salaries and wages  2,234  2,029  2,099  1,921 

(ii) Social security costs  270  230  256  218 

(iii) Other pension costs  166  158  166  158 

Remuneration of auditors *

For audit work  100  85  100  85 

For audit-related assurance services  -  -  -  - 

Operating leases- land and buildings  60  62  60  62 

Other administrative expenses  1,838  1,905  1,812  1,877 

 5,248  4,903  5,073  4,755 

Staff numbers 2020 2019

The average monthly number of persons employed during the year: Full time Part time Full time Part time

At head office  32  12  29  12 

At branch offices 22  10  25  9 

Society  54  22  54  21 

Subsidiary undertakings  3  1  3  - 

Group  57  23  57  21 
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The Provisions as at 31 August 2020 and 2019 have been deducted from loans fully secured on residential property and loans fully 

secured on land in the Statement of Financial Position. Full details are included in Note 15, ‘Loans and advances to customers’. During 

the year the Society disposed of 0 properties (2019: 4) utilising specific provisions of £nil (2019: £610k) previously allocated to the 

exposure.

Group Society 

Loans fully secured 

on residential 

property

Other loans fully 

secured on land

Total Loans fully secured 

on residential 

property

Other loans fully 

secured on land

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Individual provision

At 1 September 2019  5,113  -  5,113  5,113  -  5,113

Amounts utilised 0  - 0 0  - 0

Released in the year (235)  - (235) (235)  - (235)

Movement on impairment 

losses

(141)  - (141) (141)  - (141)

At 31st August 2020  4,735  -  4,735  4,735  -  4,735

Collective provision

At 1 September 2019  113  12  125  113  12  125 

Movement in the year 235  - 235 235  - 235

At 31 August 2020  348  12  360  348  12  360 

Individual provision

At 1 September 2018  5,544  -  5,544  5,544  -  5,544 

Amounts utilised (610)  - (610) (610)  - (610)

Movement on impairment 

losses

179  - 179 179  - 179

At 31 August 2019  5,113  -  5,113  5,113  -  5,113

Collective provision

At 1 September 2018  138  12  150  138  12  150 

Movement in the year (25)  - (25) (25)  - (25)

At 31 August 2019  113  12  125  113  12  125 

Total provision

31 August 2020  5,083  12  5,095  5,083  12  5,095 

31 August 2019  5,226  12  5,238  5,226  12  5,238

9.  Provisions for impairment losses on loans and advances to customers
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The standard rate of Corporation Tax in the UK was 19% and accordingly the Society’s profits have been taxed at this effective rate 
(2019: 19%). Deferred tax has been measured based on the substantively enacted rate of 17%. Further details on deferred tax are 
included in Note 25.    

Cash and cash equivalents on the Statement of Cash Flow constitutes cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England and 
loans and advances to credit institutions with maturities of less than three months. This totals £62,403k (2019: £64,950k) for the 
Group and £62,189k (2019: £64,484k) for the Society. 

The Society has five Credit Support Annexes (CSA) for its derivative instruments which typically provides for the exchange of collateral 
on a daily basis to mitigate net mark to market credit exposure. As at 31 August 2020 a total exchange of collateral of £1,048k (2019: 
£478k) has taken place in accordance with the trigger points within the respective CSA. These are included within loans and advances 
to credit institutions and are repayable on demand.    

Group Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

10. Tax on profit on ordinary activities £000 £000 £000 £000

a) Analysis of charge in year:

Current tax (19)  20 (19)  20 

(Over)/under provision of tax in prior years  -  -  -  - 

Total current tax (19)  20 (19)  20 

Deferred tax (see Note 25)

Origination and reversal of timing differences  115  135  115  135 

Tax on profit on ordinary activities (see note (b) below)  96  155  96  155 

b) Factors affecting current tax charge in year:

Profit on ordinary activities before tax  833  855  834  858 

Tax on profit on ordinary activities  158  162  158  163 

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes  12 10  12 10

Impact of different tax rates (74) (17) (74) (17)

Group Tax Relief claimed  -    -   (1)

Current tax charge for year  96  155  96  155 

Group and Society

2020 2019

11. Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England £000 £000

Cash in hand  456  360 

Bank of England Reserve Account  57,505  59,042 

 57,961  59,402 

Group Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

12. Loans and advances to credit institutions £000 £000 £000 £000

Loans and advances to credit institutions remaining maturities as follows:

Repayable on demand  4,442  5,548  4,228  5,082 

Not more than three months  -  1,003  -  1,003 

In more than three months but not more than one year  -  -  -  - 

 4,442  6,551  4,228  6,085 
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Group and Society

2020 2019

£000 £000

Movements in debt securities during the year are summarised as follows:

As at 1 September  21,075  29,602 

Additions  42,469  42,476 

Disposals and maturities (39,476) (50,983)

Movement in premium and accrued interest (54) (36)

Gains in fair value recognised other comprehensive income 22 16

As at  31 August  24,036  21,075 

Unmatched derivatives related to swaps which had not been matched against mortgages for hedge accounting purposes as at the 

relevant year end date.    

13. Debt securities Group and Society

2020 2019

£000 £000

Treasury bills issued by UK Government  17,000  2,999 

Certificates of deposits  7,036  18,076 

 24,036  21,075 

The Board considers the primary purpose of holding securities is prudential. The securities held as liquid assets are held with the 
intention of use on a continuing basis in the Society’s activities.  

14. Derivative financial instruments Group and Society

Contract Notional 

Amount

Fair Value 

Assets

Fair Value 

Liabilities 

£000 £000 £000

At 31 August 2020

Unmatched derivatives- Interest rate swaps  7,700  1  11 

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges interest rate swaps  118,250  7  1,352 

 125,950  8  1,363 

At 31 August 2019

Unmatched derivatives- Interest rate swaps  9,500  1 

Derivatives designated as fair value hedges interest rate swaps  91,550  3  735 

 101,050  3  736 
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Loans and advances to customers are held at amortised cost (with the exception of loans in a hedging relationship), with interest 
and the associated costs being recognised in the interest receivable and similar income line of the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income on an effective interest rate basis. 
 
Fair value hedging adjustments of £1,094k (2019: £600k) have been made to certain fixed rate mortgages that are in fair value 
hedging relationships. 
 
The maturity of loans fully secured on residential property and loans fully secured on land from the date of Statements of Financial 
Position is as follows:    

This analysis assumes that each mortgage account will continue under its current terms and, in particular, that it will not be redeemed 
before the contractual maturity date. However, the Society’s mortgage conditions give the Society the right to demand repayment 
of the mortgage debt in full after three months written notice to the borrower. When the borrower is in default repayment is due 
immediately. 

Included in loans secured on residential property are a total of 10 cases (2019: 10), with a balance outstanding of £14.03m (2019: 
£13.9m), all of which are either in posession or under management by a Law of Property Act Receiver. Although these cases have 
experienced previous financial difficulty, each has now been let thereby protecting the fabric of the buildings over which the Society 
has a charge, as well as generating an income stream which exceeds current funding costs. As at 31 August 2020 total specific 
impairment provisions of £5.1m (2019: £5.1m) are held against these exposures.  

   

     

Group Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

15. Loans and advances to customers £000 £000 £000 £000

Loans and advances to customers comprise:

Loans fully secured on residential property  360,161  341,455 360,161  341,455 

Loans fully secured on land  13,998  13,919 13,998  13,919 

Fair value adjustment for hedged risk  1,094  600 1,094  600 

 375,253  355,974 375,253  355,974 

Group Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

£000 £000 £000 £000

Repayable on demand  11,414  11,163 11,414  11,163 

In not more than three months  2,872  3,770 2,872  3,770 

In more than three months but not more than one year  12,553  11,715 12,553  11,715 

In more than one year but not more than five years  61,617  63,666 61,617  63,666 

In more than five years  290,279  270,245 290,279  270,245 

 378,735  360,559  378,735  360,559 

Provisions for bad and doubtful debts (See Note 9) (5,095) (5,238) (5,095) (5,238)

Fair value adjustment for hedged risk  1,094  600  1,094  600 

Effective Interest Rate Adjustment  519  53  519  53 

 375,253  355,974  375,253  355,974 
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The Society directly holds 100% of the issued ordinary share capital of the following companies which are registered in England and 

Wales:     

      Principal Activity       

Hanley Mortgage Services Limited   Mortgage lender       

Hanley Financial Services Limited   Financial advisory services      

Both subsidiary undertakings operate within the United Kingdom and are included in the Group’s accounts.

Hanley Mortgage Services Limited is a wholly owned direct subsidiary undertaking of the Society. The Society holds 100% of the 

issued shares in the subsidiary. The company is registered in England and Wales. All shares are £1 ordinary shares. The principal 

activity of the subsidiary is the purchase and administration of mortgage portfolios. No Director had a beneficial interest in any shares 

or debentures of the subsidiary undertaking.

Hanley Financial Services Limited is a wholly owned direct subsidiary undertaking of the Society. The Society holds 100% of the issued 

shares in the subsidiary. The company is registered in England and Wales. All shares are £1 ordinary shares. The principal activity 

of the subsidiary is providing customers with professional financial advice and services. No Director had a beneficial interest in any 

shares or debentures of the subsidiary undertaking.

As at 31 August 2020 amounts due to Hanley Financial Services Limited from the Society of £782k (2019: £531k).

Society

16. Investments in subsidiary undertakings Shares in 

subsidiary 

undertakings 

Loans to subsidiary 

undertakings

Total

£000 £000 £000

At 1 September 2019  -  -  - 

Advances  -  -  - 

Repayments  -  -  - 

At 31 August 2020  -  -  - 
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All land and buildings, with exception of two two part-occupied buildings, are fully occupied by the Group and the Society for its own 

activities.

Group and Society

17. Tangible fixed assets Land and Buildings

Freehold Long Lease Short Lease Equipment, Fixtures, 

Fittings & Vehicles 

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost at 1 September 2019  1,020  2,124  249  808  4,201 

Additions during the year  -  -  -  256  256 

Disposals during the year  -  -  - (1) (1)

Cost at 31 August 2020  1,020  2,124  249  1,063  4,456 

Depreciation at 1 September 2019  328  394  249  650  1,621 

Charge for the year  20  39  -  75  134 

Disposals during the year  -  -  - (1) (1)

Depreciation at 31 August 2020  348  433  249  724  1,754 

Net book value:

at 31 August 2019  692  1,730  -  158  2,580 

at 31 August 2020  672  1,691  -  339  2,702 

Group and 

Society

2020

18. Intangible fixed assets £000

Cost as at 1 September 2019  509

Additions during the year  327 

Disposals during the year  - 

Cost as at 31 August 2020  836 

Amortisation as at 1 September 2019  444 

Charge for the year  40 

Disposals during the year  - 

Amortisation as at 31 August 2020  484 

Net Book Value

at 31 August 2019  65 

at 31 August 2020  352 
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Group Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

19. Prepayments and accrued income £000 £000 £000 £000

Prepayments and accrued income 232 611  232 611 

 232 611  232 611 

Group and Society

2020 2019

20. Shares £000 £000

Held by individuals  395,019  375,086 

 395,019 375,086 

Repayable from the date of the balance in the ordinary course of business as follows: 

Accrued interest  698  879 

Repayable on demand  312,024  295,654 

In not more than three months  14,935  9,772 

In more than three months but not more than one year  46,130  24,468 

In more than one year  21,232  44,313 

 395,019  375,086 

Group and Society

2020 2019

21. Amounts owed to credit institutions £000 £000

Repayable from the date of the balance in the ordinary course of business as follows: 

Accrued interest  3  20 

In not more than three months  -  1,000 

In more than three months but not more than one year  2,250  - 

In more than one year but not more than five years  15,000  15,000 

 17,253 16,020

Included in the amounts above is £15,000k relating to funds drawn from the Term Funding Scheme.

Group and Society

2020 2019

22. Amounts owed to other customers £000 £000

Repayable from the date of the balance in the ordinary course of business as follows: 

Accrued interest  23  16 

Repayable on demand  18,078  19,997 

In not more than three months  2,150  1,000 

In more than three months but not more than one year  2,173  4,085 

In more than one year but not more than five years  -    1,000 

 22,424  26,098 



ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS  54 

Notes to the Accounts continued

During 2019 the Society received a claim of £0.3m from a former employee in respect of the value of pension benefits 

attributed to the Society’s withdrawn pension scheme. Confirmation was sought from the specialist legal advisers 

to repudiate the claim, and as a result of this decision the claimant has forwarded the complaint to the Financial 

Ombudsman. The Society believes it has acted correctly and in the best interest of its staff both during the closing of 

the historical scheme and assessment of the claim in the present day. As such it considers it probable that the Financial 

Ombudsman will find in the Society’s favour. Consequently no liability has been recognised in the financial statements.

Group Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

23. Other Liabilities £000 £000 £000 £000

Corporation tax due within one year  -  -  -  - 

Amounts due to Group undertakings (See note 16)  -  -  782  531 

 -  -  782  531 

Group Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

24. Accruals and deferred income £000 £000 £000 £000

Accruals  728  978  728  978 

Deferred income  -  -  -  - 

 728  978  728  978 

Group Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

25. Deferred Taxation £000 £000 £000 £000

Current tax asset  105  86  105  86 

Deferred tax asset  511  627  511  627 

Total tax assets  616  713  616  713 

Elements of deferred taxation are as follows:

Differences between accumulated depreciation and capital allowance (242) (142) (242) (142)

Other short term timing differences  753  769  753  769 

 511  627  511  627 

Deferred taxation at 1 September  627  763  627  763 

Items in relation to statement of comprehensive income (115) (135) (115) (135)

Movements in relation to debt securities (1) (1) (1) (1)

As at 31 August  511  627  511  627 

The deferred tax asset is recognised at the substantively enacted tax rate of 19% (2019: 17%). Recognition of deferred tax assets 

depends on the availability of future taxable trading profits. Further details are included in Note 1.    
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Group Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

26. General reserves £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 September as previously stated  28,063  27,363  27,066  26,363 

Profit for the financial year  737  700  738  703 

 28,800  28,063  27,804  27,066 

Group and Society

2020 2019

27. Available for sale reserves £000 £000

At 1 September (7) (22)

Net gain from change in fair value 22 16

15 (6)

Corporation Tax on Available for Sale Reserve  -    -   

Deferred Tax on Available for Sale Reserve  -   (1)

15 (7)

Group and Society 

2020 2019

28. Guarantees and other financial commitments Land and buildings Land and buildings

£000 £000

Operating leases which expire:

Within one year  47  47 

Within two to five years  66  113 

 113  160 

29. Country by country reporting

The reporting obligations set out in Article 89 of the European Union’s Capital Requirements Directive IV (CRD IV) have been 

implemented in the UK by Capital Requirements (Country by Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. The regulations require the 

Society to disclose information regarding the source of its income and location of operations.

As a mutual organisation, the Hanley Economic Building Society’s primary focus is its Members and it aims to provide mortgage, 

savings and insurance products supported by excellent customer service. Additionally, Hanley offers financial advice through its 

subsidiary Hanley Financial Services Limited. The consolidated financial statements of the Group include the audited results of the 

Society and its subsidiary undertakings.

Details of the consolidated entities and their principal activities are detailed in Note 16 to the Annual Report and Accounts. All of 

the consolidated entities were incorporated in the United Kingdom.

For the year ended 31 August 2020 The Hanley Economic Building Society’s annual accounts report:

•   Group total operating income was £6.1m (2019: £6.0m). Total operating income is defined as net interest income plus fees and 

commissions receivable (net of fees and commissions payable).

•   Profit before tax was £0.8m (2019: £0.9m), all of which arising from UK-based activity.

•   The average number of Group full time equivalent employees was 73 (2019: 71), all of which were employed in the UK.

•   No corporation tax was paid in the year (2019: £0.2m) and is all within the UK tax jurisdiction.

•   No public subsidies were received in the year (2019: none).   
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30. Financial instruments

A financial instrument is a contract which gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability of another entity. 

The Society is a retailer of financial instruments in the form of mortgage and savings products, and also uses wholesale financial 

instruments to invest liquid asset balances, raise wholesale funding and manage the risks arising from its operations.

The Society has a formal structure for managing risk, including established risk limits, reporting lines, mandates and other control 

procedures. This structure is reviewed regularly by the Assets & Liabilities Committee.

Instruments used for risk management purposes include derivative financial instruments (“derivatives”), which are contracts or 

agreements whose value is derived from one or more underlying price, rate or index inherent in the contract or agreement, such as 

interest rates. Derivatives are only used by the Society in accordance with the Building Societies Act 1986, to reduce the risk of loss 

arising from changes in interest rates. Derivatives are not used in trading activity or for speculative purposes.

The only derivatives used in balance sheet risk management are interest rate swaps and caps which are used to hedge Group 

Statement of Financial Position exposures arising from fixed rate mortgage lending and from fixed rate savings products.

The Society applies fair value hedging techniques to reduce its interest rate risk as follows:

Activity    Risk    Fair value interest rate hedge

Fixed rate mortgages  Increase in interest rates  Group pays fixed, receives variable

Fixed rate savings   Decrease in interest rates  Group receives fixed, pays variable

The fair value of these hedges at 31 August 2020 and 31 August 2019 are shown in Note 14.

The following table sets out a summary of terms and conditions and accounting policies for financial instruments.

Derivative financial instruments

Amounts owed to other customers

Amounts owed to credit institutions

Shares

Loans and advances to customers

Debt securities

Loans and advances to credit institutions
Fixed interest rates
Fixed term
Short to medium term maturity

Variable term
Fixed or variable interest rates

Secured on residential property or land
Standard contractual term
Fixed or variable interest rate

Fixed interest rates
Fixed term
Short to medium term maturity

Fixed interest rates
Fixed term
Short to medium term maturity

Fixed interest rates
Fixed term
Short to medium term maturity

Fixed interest received/paid converted 
to variable interest paid/received

Based on notional value of derivative

Loans and receivables at amortised cost 
Accounted for at settlement date

Available for sale at fair value
Accounted for at settlement date

Loans and receivables at amortised cost

Amortised cost
Accounted for at settlement date

Amortised cost
Accounted for at settlement date

Amortised cost
Accounted for at settlement date

Fair value through the Income Statement
Accounted for at trade date

Financial Instrument Terms & Conditions Accounting Policy
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Financial assets and liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or amortised cost. Note 1 describes how the classes 

of financial instruments are measured, and how income and expenses, including fair value and gains and losses, are recognised. The 

tables below analyse the Group’s assets and liabilities by financial classification.

Group

Held at amortised cost Held at fair value

Carrying values by category 31 August 2020 Loans and 

receivables

Cash and 

financial assets 

and liabilities at 

amortised cost

Available-

for-sale

Derivatives 

designated 

as fair 

value 

hedges

Unmatched 

derivatives

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets

Cash in hand and balances with Bank of 

England

 -  57,961  -  -  -  57,961 

Loans and advances to credit institutions  4,442  -  -  -  -  4,442 

Debt securities  -  -  24,036  -  -  24,036 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  -  7  1  8 

Loans and advances to customers  375,253  -  -  -  -  375,253 

Total financial assets  379,695  57,961  24,036  7  1  461,700 

Total non-financial assets  3,902 

Total group assets  465,602 

Financial liabilities

Shares  -  395,019  -  -  -  395,019 

Amounts owed to credit institutions  -  17,253  -  -  -  17,253 

Amounts owed to other customers  -  22,424  -  -  -  22,424 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  -  1,352  11  1,363 

Total financial liabilities  -  434,696  -  1,352  11  436,059 

Total non-financial liabilities  728 

General and other reserves  28,815 

Total Group liabilities  465,602



ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS  58 

Notes to the Accounts continued

30. Financial instruments continued

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Fair value is the value for which an asset or liability could be exchanged or settled between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s 

length transaction. The estimated fair value of the financial assets and liabilities above has been calculated using a hierachy valuation 

methodology which is split into three levels as follows: 

•   Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

•  Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or 

indirectly; and

•   Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data. The Society does not hold any level 3 assets 

or liabilities.

Group

Held at amortised cost Held at fair value

Carrying values by category 31 August 

2019

Loans and 

receivables

Cash and 

financial 

assets and 

liabilities at 

amortised 

cost

Available-

for-sale

Derivatives 

designated 

as fair value 

hedges

Unmatched 

derivatives

Total

Financial assets £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cash in hand and balances with Bank 

of England

 -  59,402  -  -  -  59,402 

Loans and advances to credit 

institutions

 6,551  -  -  -  -  6,551 

Debt securities  -  -  21,075  -  -  21,075 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  -  3  -  3 

Loans and advances to customers  355,974  -  -  -  -  355,974 

Total financial assets  362,525  59,402  21,075  3  -  443,005 

Total non-financial assets  3,969 

Total Group assets  446,974 

Financial liabilities

Shares  -  375,086  -  -  -  375,086 

Amounts owed to credit institutions  -  16,020  -  -  -  16,020 

Amounts owed to other customers  -  26,098  -  -  -  26,098 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  -  735 1  736 

Total financial liabilities  -  417,204  -  735  1  417,940 

Total non-financial liabilities  978 

General and other reserves  28,056 

Total Group liabilities  446,974 
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30. Financial instruments continued

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value

Valuation techniques

The main valuation technique employed by the Group to establish fair value of the financial instruments disclosed above are set out 

below:

Debt securities – Level 1

Market prices have been used to determine the fair value of listed debt securities.

Interest rate swaps – Level 2

The valuation of interest rate swaps is based on the ‘present value’ method. Expected interest cash flows are discounted using the 

prevailing yield curves. The yield curves are generally observable market data which is derived from quoted interest rates in similar 

time bandings which match the timings of the interest cash flows and maturities of the instruments. 

Assets not based on observable market data - Level 3

The Society does not hold any level 3 assets or liabilities therefore does not hold any valuation techniques.

Group 

Notes Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

31 August 2020 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets

Available-for-sale

Debt securities 13  24,036  -  -  24,036 

Derivative financial intruments

Interest rate swaps 14  -  8  -  8 

 24,036  8  -  24,044 

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments

Interest rate swaps 14  -  1,363  -  1,363 

 -  1,363  -  1,363 

31 August 2019

Financial assets

Available-for-sale

Debt securities 13  21,075  -  -  21,075 

Derivative financial intruments

Interest rate swaps 14  -  3  -  3 

 21,075  3  -  21,078 

Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments

Interest rate swaps 14  -  736  -  736 

 -  736  -  736 
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Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the Group incurs a financial loss arising from the failure of a customer or counterparty to meet their 

contractual obligations. The Group structures the level of credit risk it undertakes, by maintaining a governance framework involving 

delegated approval authority levels and credit procedures, the objective of which is to build and maintain asset portfolios of high 

quality.

The Group’s maximum credit risk exposure is detailed in the table below:

Loans and advances to credit institutions, debt securities and derivative financial instruments.

The Assets & Liabilities Committee is responsible for approving treasury counterparties for both derivatives and investment purposes. 

Limits are placed on the amount of risk accepted in relation to a single counterparty, or group of counterparties, and to industry 

sectors. This is managed within a framework to ensure risk exposure is managed within the risk appetite set by the Board.

The Society’s Liquidity Policy only permits lending to central government (which includes the Bank of England), banks with a high 

credit rating and building societies. This involved the use of strict mandates and counterparty risk assessments and monitoring.

Group Group Society Society

2020 2019 2020 2019

£000 £000 £000 £000

Credit risk exposure

Cash in hand and balances with Bank of England  57,961  59,402  57,961  59,402 

Loans and advances to credit institutions  4,442  6,551  4,228  6,085 

Debt securities  24,036  21,075  24,036  21,075 

Derivative financial instruments  8  3  8  3 

Loans and advances to customers  375,253  355,974  375,253  355,974 

Total statement of financial exposure  461,700  443,005  461,486  442,539 

Off balance sheet exposure - mortgage commitments  34,600  28,782  34,600  28,782 

Total statement of financial exposure  496,300  471,787  496,086  471,321 
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An analysis of the Group’s treasury asset concentration is shown in the tables below:

The Group has no exposure to foreign exchange risk. All instruments are denominated in Sterling.

The Group’s derivative financial instruments are analysed in the table below:

Group

2020 2020 2019 2019

£000 % £000 %

Industry sector 

Banks  9,462 10.95  23,624 27.14

Building Societies  2,016 2.33  1,003 1.15

Central Bank  57,961 67.05  59,402 68.26

Central Government  17,000 19.67  2,999 3.45

 86,439 100.00  87,028 100.00

Group 

2020 AAA AA A BBB Other 2019

Geographic region £000 % % % % % £000

United Kingdom  86,169  -    86.99  10.69  -    2.32  86,808 

Europe  270  -    -    100.00  -    -    220 

Group 

2020 AAA AA A BBB 2019

Geographic region £000 % % % % £000

United Kingdom  102,850  -   0.00 100.00 0.00  71,650 

Europe  23,100  -    -    100.00  -    30,900 
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b) Loans and advances to customers

All mortgage loan applications are assessed with reference to the Group’s credit risk appetite statement and Lending Policy, which 

includes assessing applicants for potential fraud risk which is approved by the Board. When deciding on the overall risk appetite that 

the Group wishes to adopt, both numerical and non-numerical considerations are taken into account, along with data on the current 

UK economic climate and competitor activity. The Lending Policy must comply with all the prevailing regulatory policy and framework.

The lending portfolio as originated is monitored by the Board to ensure that it remains in line with the stated risk appetite of the 

Group, including adherence to the lending principles, policies and lending limits.

Credit risk management information is comprehensive and is circulated to respective Board committees on a regular basis to ensure 

that the portfolio remains within the Group’s risk appetite.

The Group operates throughout England & Wales and an analysis of the Group’s geographical concentration is shown in the table 

below:

Group and Society

2020 2019

% %

Geographical analysis 

East Anglia 3 3

East Midlands 5 6

London and South East 30 30

North East 3 2

North West 16 16

South West 7 7

Wales 4 4

West Midlands 24 25

Yorkshire and Humberside 6 6

Scotland 2 1

100 100

Group and Society

LTV analysis 2020 2019

% %

0% - 50% 28 29

>50% - 60% 11 11

>60% - 70% 11 14

>70% - 80% 14 15

>80% - 90% 12 13

>90% - 100% 19 12

>100% 5 6

100 100

All loans with a LTV exceeding 100% are regularly monitored by the Credit Committee. Further, all loans with a LTV exceeding 100% 
are included in the individual impairment provisioning model used to determine the adequacy of the Group’s overall impairment 
provision. See Note 1.

Average loans to value of 

mortgage exposures (%)
57 55
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The table below provides information on loans by payment due status net of provisions and adjustments:

Group and Society

2020 2020 2019 2019

Arrears analysis £000 % £000 %

Not impaired:

Neither past due or impaired  356,632  94.17  336,272 93.27

Past due up to 3 months  3,828  1.01  3,942 1.09

Past due 3 - 6 months  151  0.04  360 0.10

Past due 6 - 12 months  110  0.03  - 0.00

Past due over 12 months  -  -    -    -   

Impaired:

Not due past  4,173 1.10  4,765 1.32

Past due up to 3 months  507 0.13  1,916  0.53 

Past due 3 - 6 months  -  -    -  -   

Past due 6 - 12 months  -  -    -  -   

Past due over 12 months  -  -    -  -   

Possessions and LPA receiverships  13,334 3.52  13,304 3.69

Total as per Note 15  378,735  100.00  360,559 100.00

Indexed Unindexed Indexed Unindexed

£000 £000 £000 £000

Value of collateral held:

Neither past due or impaired  760,715  680,094  715,074  631,168 

Past due but not impaired  5,158  3,754  6,022  4,128 

Impaired  13,010  11,744  16,380  15,670 

 778,883  695,592  737,476  650,966 
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Forbearance

This is where reduced monthly payment concessions allow a customer to make an agreed underpayment for a specific period of time. 

Forbearance is offered to customers who are experiencing specific cases of difficulty.

The concession, which is a reduced payment, is usually a temporary transfer to interest only which allows the customer to pay only 

the interest of the loan without reducing the capital. At the end of the concessionary period the Society works constructively with the 

customer to identify the most suitable payment plan to manage their monthly mortgage payments going forward.

Examples of these payment plans include increasing their normal monthly payment, subject to affordability, or extending the term 

of the mortgage in order to reduce the mortgage payment to an affordable level for the customer based on their current financial 

circumstances.

All forbearance arrangements are formally discussed with the customer and are reviewed by the Customer Services Team prior 

to acceptance of the forbearance arrangement. By offering customers in financial difficulty the option of forbearance the Society 

potentially exposes itself to an increased level of risk through prolonging the period of non-contractual payment and/or potentially 

placing the customer into a detrimental position at the end of the forbearance period.

Regular monitoring of the forbearance activity is reported to the Board at regular intervals. In addition all forbearance arrangements 

are reviewed and discussed with the customer on a regular basis to assess the ongoing potential risk to the Society and suitability of 

the arrangement for the customer.

At 31 August 2020 the Society had 5 cases (2019: 5) subject to forbearance measures with total balances of £0.68m (2019: £0.68m). 

In each instance the loans were not impaired and were subject to interest only concessions at the year end.

Of particular relevance to this financial year, is the option for a borrower to pause payments, i.e. take a payment holiday. Previously 

the Society did not offer this concession, however under government guidance and as a direct result of COVID-19 this option was 

made available. Under this government guidance, borrowers are not classed as past due whilst under the an initial or secondary 

payment holiday. As at 31 August 2020 there were 63 cases (2019: 0) under a COVID payment holiday, equivalent to 3.09% (2019: 0) 

of the overall portfolio.
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Society will not have sufficient financial resources available to meet its obligations as they fall due, 

under either normal business conditions or a stressed environment. The Society’s Liquidity Policy requires that a significant amount 

of its total assets are carried in the form of cash and other readily realisable assets in order to:

•   Meet day-to-day business needs;

•   Meet any unexpected cash needs;

•   Maintain public confidence; and

•   Ensure maturity mismatches are provided for.

Monitoring of liquidity, in line with the Society’s Liquidity Policy, is performed daily. Compliance with the policy is reported monthly 

to both Assets & Liabilities Committee and to the Board.

The Society’s Liquidity Policy is designed to ensure the Society has sufficient liquid resources to withstand a range of stressed scenarios. 

A series of liquidity stress tests have been developed as part of the liquidity risk assessment process. They include scenarios that fulfil 

the specific requirements of the Prudential Regulation Authority (the idiosyncratic, market-wide and combination stress tests). The 

stress tests are performed monthly and reported to Assets & Liabilities Committee to allow them to confirm the Liquidity Policy 

remains appropriate.

The Society’s liquid resources comprise high quality liquid assets, including a Bank of England Reserve Account, certificates of deposit 

and term deposits, supplemented by an amount of UK Government Treasury Bills purchased by the Society. At the end of the year the 

ratio of liquid assets to shares and deposit liabilities was 19.88% (2019: 20.86%).

The following tables on pages 66 and 67 analyse the Society’s assets and liabilities into residual maturity groupings, based on the 

remaining period to contractual maturity at the Statement of Financial Position date. This is not representative of the Society’s 

management of liquidity, furthermore loans and advances to customers rarely run their full course. The actual repayment profile is 

likely to be significantly different from that shown in the analysis. For example most mortgages have a contractual maturity of around 

25 years but are generally repaid much sooner. Conversely, retail deposits repayable on demand generally remain in the Statement of 

Financial Position much longer. 
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There is no material difference between the maturity profile for the Group and that for the Society. All Group liquid assets are 

unencumbered as at the Statement of Financial Position date.

Residual maturity as at 31 

August 2020

Group

On demand Not more 

than three 

months

More than 

three months 

but not more 

than one year

More than 

one year 

but not 

more than 

five years

More 

than five 

years

Non 

cash

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets

Liquid assets

Cash in hand and balances with 

Bank of England

 57,961  -    -    -    -    -    57,961 

Loans and advances to credit 

institutions

 4,442  -    -    -    -    -    4,442 

Debt securities  -    5,000  19,036  -    -    -    24,036 

Total liquid assets  62,403  5,000  19,036  -    -    -    86,439 

Derivative financial instruments  -    -    -    -    -    8  8 

Loans and advances to 

customers

 11,414  2,872  12,553  61,617  290,279 (3,482)  375,253 

Tangible assets  -    -    -    -    -    2,702  2,702 

Intangible assets  -    -    -    -    -    352  352 

Other assets  -    -    -    -    -    848  848 

Total assets  73,817  7,872  31,589  61,617  290,279  428  465,602 

Financial liabilities and reserves

Shares  312,256  15,093  46,352  15,967  5,351  -    395,019 

Amounts owed to credit 

institutions and other 

customers

 18,078  2,170  4,427  15,002  -    -    39,677 

Derivative financial instruments  -    -    -    -    -    1,363  1,363 

Other liabilities  -    -    -    -    -    728  728 

Reserves  -    -    -    -    -    28,815  28,815 

Total liabilities 330,334 17,263 50,779  30,969  5,351 30,906 465,602

Net liquidity gap (256,517) (9,391) (19,190)  30,648  284,928 (30,478) -
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There is no material difference between the maturity profile for the Group and that for the Society. All Group liquid assets are 

unencumbered as at the Statement of Financial Position date.

Residual maturity as at 

31 August 2019

Group

On 

demand

Not more than 

three months

More than 

three months 

but not more 

than one year

More 

than one 

year but 

not more 

than five 

years

More than 

five years

Non cash Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Financial assets

Liquid assets

Cash in hand and 

balances with Bank of 

England

 59,402  -  -  -  -  -  59,402 

Loans and advances to 

credit institutions

 5,548  1,003  -  -  -  -  6,551 

Debt securities  -  8,553  12,522  -  -  -  21,075 

Total liquid assets  64,950  9,556  12,522  -  -  -  87,028 

Derivative financial 

instruments

 -  -  -  -  -  3  3 

Loans and advances to 

customers

 11,163  3,770  11,715  63,666  270,245 (4,585)  355,974 

Tangible assets  -  -  -  -  -  2,580  2,580 

Intangible assets  -  -  -  -  -  65  65 

Other assets  -  -  -  -  -  1,324  1,324 

Total assets  76,113  13,326  24,237  63,666  270,245 (613)  446,974 

Financial liabilities and 

reserves

Shares  296,185  9,839  24,567  38,631  5,864  -  375,086 

Amounts owed to 

credit institutions and 

other customers

 19,997  2,012  4,089  16,020  -  -  42,118 

Derivative financial 

instruments

 -  -  -  -  -  736  736 

Other liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  978  978 

Provisions for liabilities 

- FSCS Levy

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Reserves  -  -  -  -  -  28,056  28,056 

Total liabilities  316,182  11,851  28,656  54,651  5,864  29,770  446,974 

Net liquidity gap (240,069) 1,475 (4,419) 9,015 264,381 (30,383) -
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The following is an analysis of gross cash flows payable under financial liabilities.

Group

On 

demand

Not 

more 

than 

three 

months

More 

than three 

months 

but not 

more than 

one year

More than 

one year 

but not 

more than 

five years

More than 

five years

Non 

cash

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

31 August 2020

Financial liabilities

Shares  312,029  14,943  46,597  16,163  5,932  -  395,664 

Amounts owed to credit institutions 

and other customers

 18,078  2,173  4,438  15,024  -  -  39,713 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  -  -  -  1,363  1,363 

Total liabilities  330,107  17,116  51,035  31,187  5,932  1,363  436,740 

The analysis of gross contractual cash flows differs from the analysis of residual maturity due to the inclusion of interest accrued 
at current rates, for the average period until maturity on the amounts outstanding at the Statement of Financial Position date.  
The derivative financial instrument cash flows include the payable leg of all interest rate swap derivatives held by the Group 
and Society at the Statement of Financial Position date. 

Group

On 

demand

Not 

more 

than 

three 

months

More 

than three 

months 

but not 

more than 

one year

More than 

one year 

but not 

more than 

five years

More than 

five years

Non 

cash

Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

31 August 2019

Financial liabilities

Shares  295,662  9,778  24,601  39,587  6,837  - 376,465 

Amounts owed to credit institutions 

and other customers

 19,997  2,042  27,121  16,432  -  -  65,592 

Derivative financial instruments  -  -  -  -  -  736  736 

Total liabilities  315,659  11,820  51,722  56,019  6,837  736 442,793 
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Market risk
Market risk is the risk of changes to the Society’s financial condition caused by market interest rates. The Society is exposed to market 
risk in the form of changes (or potential changes) in the general level of interest rates, changes in the relationship between short and 
long-term interest rates and divergence of interest rates for different Statement of Financial Position elements (basis risk).

The Society has adopted the ‘Matched’ approach to interest rate risk, as defined by the Prudential Regulation Authority. Societies 
adopting the Matched approach should have a Statement of Financial Position where assets and liabilities are entirely in Sterling and 
use hedging contracts (or internal matching of assets and liabilities with similar interest rate and maturity features) to neutralise the 
risk arising from loans or funding other than at administered rates, on a tranche by tranche, product by product basis. By adopting this 
approach the Society does not take an interest rate view for the purposes of determining a hedging strategy.

The management of interest rate risk is based on a full Statement of Financial Position gap analysis. The Statement of Financial 
Position is subjected to a stress test of a 2% rise in interest rates on a monthly basis and the results are reported to the Assets & 
Liabilities Committee monthly. In addition interest rate basis risk sensitivity is similarly reported to the Assets & Liabilities Committee 
monthly. Both sets of results are measured against the risk appetite for market risk which is currently set as a percentage of capital. 

The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk. Included in the table are Group assets and liabilities, including 

derivative financial instruments which are used solely to reduce exposure to interest rate risk, categorised by repricing date.

+200bps Parallel 
Increase

2020 2019

£'000 £'000

Sensitivity of reported reserves to interest rate movement (economic value)

At 31 August 2020 (634) (440)

Average for the period (612) (300)

Maximum for the period (802) (590)

Minimum for the period (446) (31)

There is no material difference between the interest rate risk profile for the Group and that for the Society. The Group is not exposed 
to foreign currency risk.

The Society does not have any financial assets or liabilities that are offset with the net amount presented in the Statement of Financial 
Position as FRS102 Section 11.38A requires both an enforceable right to set off and the intention to settle on a net basis or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Neither of these conditions are met by the Society. All financial assets and liabilities 
are presented on a gross basis in the Statement of Financial Position.

The Society has five Credit Support Annexes (CSA) for its derivative instruments which typically provide for the exchange of collateral 
on a daily basis to mitigate net mark-to-market credit exposure. As at 31 August 2020 a total exchange of collateral of £1048k (2019: 
£478k) has taken place in accordance with the trigger points within the respective CSA. These are included within loans and advances 
to credit institutions. (See Note 12).
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The Society only uses derivatives for interest rate risk management purposes, it does not use derivatives for speculative 

trading purposes. A fair value hedge is used to hedge exposures to variability in the fair value of the Society's fixed rate 

mortgages. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date at which a derivative contract is entered into, and 

are subsequently re-measured at its fair value at each reporting period. Fair values of derivatives are calculated by using 

discounted cash flow models using yield curves that are based on observable market data, an asset arises when the fair 

value is positive and a liability when the fair value is negative. The fair values of the Society's derivatives are as follows.

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

2020 2020 2019 2019

£000 £000 £000 £000

 8  1,363  3  736 

All derivatives entered into by the Society are for the purposes of providing an economic hedge. Hedge accounting is an optional 
accounting policy, but its use must be in accordance with the specific rules and conditions in IAS 39. The Society has adopted IAS 39 for 
hedge accounting as allowed under FRS 102. The Society pays fixed and receives 3 month LIBOR on all of its derivatives at 31 August 
2020. In September 2019, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 39, IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures to address 
uncertainties related to the market wide reform of interbank offered rates, (IBOR reform). The amendments provide targeted relief for 
financial instruments qualifying for hedge accounting under IAS 39 or IFRS 9, under phase 1 of the IBOR reform relief: pre-transition 
relief. Phase 2 relief on transition was issued in August 2020. They are effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. 

The Society has early adopted the Phase 1 relief for year ended 31 August 2020 in order to utilise LIBOR cashflow forecasts in hedge 
accounting calculations beyond the 2021 cessation date, in line with regulatory guidance.

Under the reforms LIBOR will not be sustained after the end of 2021. The Working Group on Sterling Risk-Free Reference Rates has 
proposed the Sterling Overnight Index Average (“SONIA”) as the basis of a replacement for LIBOR to address uncertainties related to 
the market wide reform of interbank offered rates (IBOR reform). The amendments provide targeted relief for financial instruments 
qualifying for hedge accounting under IAS 39 or IFRS 9. 

Historically, the variable rate paid or received on interest rate swap contracts used by the Society has been 3 month LIBOR. The Society 
has therefore commenced a project to transition away from LIBOR to using a compounded SONIA rate on the assumption that this 
will replace LIBOR as the market standard. This transition will begin in September 2020 with replacement of existing backbook LIBOR 
swaps with SONIA, and new hedging requirements conducted through SONIA based instruments in the first instance.

The composition of the portfolio of interest rate swaps used in hedges and held at each year end is shown in the table below:  

2020 2019

£000 £000

Notional value of LIBOR swap contracts used in hedges  118,250  91,550 

Notional value of LIBOR swap contracts unmatched  7,700  9,500 

Notional value of LIBOR swap contracts not included in Hedge Accounting -  1,500 

Total notional value of LIBOR swap contracts  125,950  102,550 

Notional value of LIBOR swap contracts used in hedges which mature before the end of 2021  41,750  66,550 

Notional value of LIBOR swap contracts used in hedges which mature after 2021 76,500  25,000 

118,250  91,550 

The hedged mortgage assets that are affected by LIBOR reform are shown in the table below:

Carrying value of mortgages hedged by LIBOR swap contracts  107,043  85,543 

Of which:

Carrying value of mortgages hedged by LIBOR swap contracts which mature before the end of 2021  32,590  57,986 

Carrying value of mortgages hedged by LIBOR swap contracts which mature after 2021  74,453  27,557 

 107,043  85,543 
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1.

2.

Statutory Percentages 

Other Percentage 

For the year ended 31 August 2020

Proportion of business assets not in the form of loans 

fully secured on residential property (the ‘lending limit’)

Proportion of shares and deposits not in the form 

of shares held by individuals (the ‘funding limit’) 

Gross capital as a percentage of shares and borrowings

Free capital as a percentage of shares and borrowings 

Liquid assets as a percentage of shares and borrowings 

As a percentage of mean assets: 

       Profit after taxation            

       Management expenses

  

The percentages are calculated in accordance with, and the statutory limits are those prescribed by, sections 6 and 7 of the 

Building Societies Act 1986 as amended by the Buildings Societies Act 1997.

Business assets are the total assets of the Group as shown in the Statement of Financial Position plus provisions for bad and 

doubtful debts, less fixed assets and liquid assets.

Loans fully secured on residential property are the amount of principal owing by borrowers and interest accrued not yet 

payable.  This is the amount shown in the Statement of Financial Position plus provisions for bad and doubtful debts.

2020

%

4.02

9.13

31 August 2020

%

6.63

6.01

19.88

0.16

1.19

Statutory Limit

%

25

50

31 August 2019

%

6.72

6.12

20.86

0.16

1.15

Ratio as at

The above percentages have been prepared from the Group’s accounts and in particular:

•  'Shares and borrowings’ represent the total of shares, amounts owed to credit institutions and amounts owed to other 

customers.

•  ‘Gross capital’ represents general reserves.

•  ‘Free capital’ represents the aggregate of gross capital and collective loan loss impairment provision for bad and doubtful 

debts less tangible and intangible fixed assets.

•  ‘Mean total assets’ represent the amount produced by halving the aggregate of total assets at the beginning and end of 

the financial year.

•  ‘Liquid assets’ represent the total of cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England, loans and advances to credit 

institutions and debt securities.

•  ‘Management expenses’ represent the aggregate of administrative expenses, depreciation and amortisation.

•  ‘Cost/income’ represents the aggregate of administration expenses, depreciation and amortisation expressed as a 

percentage of total income less other operating charges.
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3. Information relating to the Directors at 31 August 2020 

Name

N. M. Jordan 

R. I. Henley

A. S. Macdonald

L. Payne AGMA, 
CGMA 

M. E. Selby BA, MBA

E. A. Whitfield, ACA, 
BSc (Hons)

S. Woodings LLB

R. M. Young MIPA

Occupation

Society’s Chairman

Director

Consultant

Finance Director

Society’s Chief 
Executive

Director 

Company Director 
and Consultant 
Solicitor

Company Director 
and Consultant 

Date of 
Birth

1.4.1960

26.1.1958

20.10.1954

19.10.1988

30.8.1969

4.10.1965

15.9.1966

20.12.1953

Date of 
Appointment

1.5.2018

1.1.2020

1.9.2014

18.6.2019

14.11.2016

1.05.2020

1.4.2016

5.5.2017

Directorships

1624 Limited
Bank of America Merrill Lynch International DAC
Hanley Financial Services Limited
Hanley Mortgage Services Limited
Nordisk Renting AB

Crawshen Consulting Ltd
Hanley Financial Services Limited
Hanley Mortgage Services Limited

Hanley Financial Services Limited
Hanley Mortgage Services Limited
Non-Newtonian Hospitality Limited
Sempre Ski Limited

Alice Charity
Hanley Financial Services Limited
Hanley Mortgage Services Limited

Donna Louise Children's Hospice
Hanley Financial Services Limited
Hanley Mortgage Services Limited

Growth Plans Ltd

Argus Fire Protection Company Limited
Hanley Financial Services Limited
Hanley Mortgage Services Limited
Slademain Limited

Caverswall Park Developments Limited
Caverswall Park Management Company Limited
Hanley Financial Services Limited
Hanley Mortgage Services Limited

Documents may be served on the above named Directors c/o KPMG LLP, Chartered Accountants, One Snowhill, Snow Hill Queensway, 

Birmingham B4 6GH.

SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr M. E. Selby and Mrs L. Payne are employed under a contract that is terminable by either the Society or the Director on six months’ 

notice.
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4. Officers

Name    Occupation     Directorships

L. Carter LLB    Head of Operations                       –

A. Guy Dip (Comp), MICA  Head of Risk      –   

D. Henry PG Dip HRM  Head of Human Resources     –

J. Jones BA (Hons)      Head of Finance     –

W. Jones BA (Hons), MA  Head of Technology                      –

D. Lownds BSc (Hons), MSc  Head of Sales, Marketing & Business Development –

T. A. Ratcliffe   Head of Branches     – 

      

The Officers of the Society are referred to as Senior Managers and, along with the Executive Directors, constitute the Leadership Team.

Head Office: Granville House, Festival Park, Hanley, Stoke-on-Trent, Staffordshire ST1 5TB

Tel: 01782 255000

Email: customerservices@thehanley.co.uk

Branches at Biddulph, Cheadle, Festival Park, Longton, Newcastle, Stone and Hanley City Centre

Find us on
Facebook @hanleyeconomic

Authorised by the Prudential Regulation Authority and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulation Authority.


